
BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

TUESDAY, JANUARY 14, 2025 
  

 The Buffalo County Board of Commissioners and the Buffalo County Board of Equalization met on Tuesday, January 14, 2025 at 

9:00 A.M. and 9:30 A.M. County Clerk Heather Christensen called the Reorganization Meeting of the Buffalo County Board of 

Commissioners to order and led those present in the Pledge of Allegiance. The following Board members responded to roll call: Timothy 

Higgins, Ivan Klein, Myron Kouba, Ronald Loeffelholz, Daniel Lynch, Bill Maendele and Sherry Morrow. A copy of the 

acknowledgment and receipt of notice and agenda by the Board of Commissioners is attached to these minutes. Public notice of this 

meeting was published/posted in the Kearney Hub, on the Buffalo County website, and the bulletin boards located outside the County 

Clerk’s office and County Board Room on January 9, 2025. In accordance with Section 84-1412 of the Nebraska Revised Statutes, a 

current copy of the Open Meetings Act is available for review and posted at the back of the Board Room. County Clerk Heather 

Christensen took all proceedings hereinafter shown; while the convened meeting was open to the public. Deputy County Attorney 

Andrew Hoffmeister and Deputy County Attorney Josiah Davis were present. 

 County Clerk Christensen called for the election of a Chairperson. Commissioner Klein nominated Sherry Morrow for 

Chairperson of the Buffalo County Board of Commissioners and Maendele seconded the nomination. County Clerk Christensen called 

for any further nominations three times. There were no further nominations and it was moved by Klein and seconded by Maendele to 

cease the nominations and cast a unanimous ballot for Sherry Morrow. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": 

Klein, Maendele, Higgins, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Lynch and Morrow. Motion declared carried and Sherry Morrow is the 2025 Board 

Chairperson.   

County Clerk Christensen turned the meeting over to Chairperson Morrow. 

 Chairperson Morrow called for the election of a Vice Chairperson. Commissioner Kouba nominated Bill Maendele as Vice 

Chairperson of the Buffalo County Board of Commissioners and Loeffelholz seconded the nomination. Chairperson Morrow called for 

any further nominations three times. There were no further nominations and the nominations ceased with a unanimous ballot for Bill 

Maendele. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Kouba, Loeffelholz, Higgins, Klein, Lynch, Maendele and 

Morrow. Motion declared carried and Bill Maendele is the 2025 Board Vice Chairperson.   

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to approve the following list of Depositories for County Monies. Upon roll call 

vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared 

carried.  

Cornerstone Bank    Exchange Bank  

Farmers & Merchants Bank   First National Bank of Omaha  

Five Points Bank    Heartland Bank  

NFIT/Union Bank NPAIT          NebraskaLand Bank   

Town & Country Bank   Wells Fargo  

Bruner State Bank   Pinnacle Bank 

FirsTier Bank     

 Moved by Maendele and seconded by Loeffelholz to authorize the Buffalo County Treasurer Brenda Rohrich to invest the 

County funds at the approved depositories. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Maendele, Loeffelholz, 

Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Lynch and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

Chairperson Morrow then made the following Agency Appointments: 

County Board Representatives: 

Airport Zoning Board- Timothy Higgins 

Buffalo County Economic Development Council- Daniel Lynch & Sherry Morrow  

Community Action Partnership of Mid-Nebraska Board- Myron Kouba 

Kearney Area Chamber of Commerce- Bill Maendele 

Kearney Area Visitors Bureau Advisory Board- Timothy Higgins 

Mid-NE Individual Services Advisory Board- Ivan Klein 

Region III Governing Board- Bill Maendele 

Solid Waste Agency- Ronald Loeffelholz 

South Central Economic Development Council- Bill Maendele 

South Central NE Area Agency on Aging Governing Board- Ivan Klein 



Two River Public Health Department- Daniel Lynch 

State Agency Appointments: 

    Nebraska Jail Standards Board- Sherry Morrow 

    Nebraska Wireless Enhanced 911 Advisory Board- Timothy Higgins 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Maendele to make the Legal Newspaper Designations appointment as The Kearney Hub 

and the Buffalo County Website (www.buffalocounty.ne.gov). Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": 

Loeffelholz, Maendele, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Lynch and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

Moved by Lynch and seconded by Loeffelholz to appoint the following Committee appointments with the first person listed to be 

the Committee Chair: 

Budget & Finance Committee   Sherry Morrow-Chair 

Daniel Lynch 

Bill Maendele 

 

Facilities OMP Committee    Sherry Morrow-Chair 

Bill Maendele 

Timothy Higgins 

 

Information Technology Committee   Myron Kouba-Chair 

Daniel Lynch 

Ivan Klein 

 

Road & Bridge Committee    Ivan Klein-Chair 

Daniel Lynch 

Ronald Loeffelholz 

 

Noxious Weed District Committee   Ronald Loeffelholz-Chair 

Ivan Klein 

Myron Kouba 

 

Human Resources/Insurance Committee  Myron Kouba-Chair 

Timothy Higgins 

Bill Maendele 

 

Public Safety, Law Enforcement &    Daniel Lynch-Chair 

Emergency Management Committee   Ronald Loeffelholz 

Sherry Morrow 

 

Court & Judicial Committee    Ivan Klein-Chair 

Ronald Loeffelholz 

Sherry Morrow 

 

Veterans Service Committee    Myron Kouba-Chair 

Bill Maendele 

Ivan Klein 

 

Zoning & Floodplain Committee   Ronald Loeffelholz-Chair 

Daniel Lynch 

Bill Maendele 

 

Extension Committee     Ronald Loeffelholz-Chair 

Myron Kouba 

Timothy Higgins 

 

Election Committee     Timothy Higgins -Chair 

Bill Maendele 

Daniel Lynch 

 

Legislative Committee    Bill Maendele-Chair 

Sherry Morrow 

Timothy Higgins 

 

 

 



Ravenna Lake Committee    Myron Kouba-Chair 

Ivan Klein 

Tim Higgins 

 

County Official Council    Timothy Higgins-Chair 

Sherry Morrow 

Myron Kouba 

 

Law Enforcement Center Committee   Sherry Morrow-Chair 

Daniel Lynch 

Timothy Higgins 

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Lynch, Loeffelholz, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. 

Motion declared carried. 

Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to appoint Lynn Martin as the Buffalo County NIRMA (Nebraska 

Intergovernmental Risk Management Association) Contact. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, 

Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 

REGULAR AGENDA 

 Moved by Maendele and seconded by Loeffelholz to approve the December 23, 2024 Board meeting minutes with the following 

Amendment to the last sentence of the minutes to reflect the correct year. The sentence should be changed to “Chairperson Klein asked if 

there was anything else to come before the Board at 11:10 A.M. before he declared the meeting adjourned sine die until the 

reorganization meeting on Tuesday, January 14, 2025 at 9:00 A.M. and instructed County Clerk to publish notice for the same according 

to Nebraska Law.”. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Maendele, Loeffelholz, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, 

Lynch and Morrow.  Motion declared carried.  

 Moved by Lynch and seconded by Kouba to ratify the following December 27, 2024 and January 10, 2025 payroll claims that 

were processed by the County Clerk. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Lynch, Kouba, Higgins, Klein, 

Loeffelholz, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

DECEMBER 27, 2024 PAYROLL 

GENERAL FUND    
NET PAYROLL                347,307.41  

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE  I PREMIUMS                   1,371.10  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET                 61,865.32  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS              161,798.36  

EMPOWER ANNUITY INS R DEFERRED COMP                   1,075.00  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS                   6,594.64  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES              117,056.16  

KEARNEY UNITED WAY E DONATIONS                         55.00  

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS                   1,153.38  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY                       309.02  

ERIN M MCCARTNEY E GARNISHMENT                       402.00  

METLIFE  E DENTAL                    3,775.58  

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT  R DEFERRED COMP                   4,032.00  

NE CHILD SUPPORT E CHILD SUPPORT                   1,200.50  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES                 19,455.15  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE                    1,190.55  

ROAD FUND    
NET PAYROLL                   65,753.86  

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE  I PREMIUMS                       749.16  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET                 10,352.47  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS                   4,110.16  

BUFFALO CO COURT E GARNISHMENT                       228.50  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS                       816.24  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES                 19,451.07  

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS                       181.45  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY                       125.26  

METLIFE  E DENTAL                       964.62  

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT R DEFERRED COMP                       272.50  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES                   3,029.67  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE                       309.42  



WEED FUND    

NET PAYROLL                     5,594.45  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET                       889.44  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS                       320.65  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS                       104.16  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES                   1,760.07  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY                           3.95  

METLIFE E DENTAL                          56.97  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES                       272.88  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE                           4.81  

 

JANUARY 10, 2025 PAYROLL 

 

GENERAL FUND    
NET PAYROLL           384,739.54  

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE  I PREMIUMS              1,554.52  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET           68,686.00  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS         172,409.50  

EMPOWER ANNUITY INS R DEFERRED COMP              1,075.00  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS              7,076.60  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES         132,792.78  

KEARNEY UNITED WAY E DONATIONS                    67.42  

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS              1,155.08  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY                 306.20  

ERIN M MCCARTNEY E GARNISHMENT                 402.00  

METLIFE  E DENTAL               4,257.77  

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT  R DEFERRED COMP              2,232.00  

NE CHILD SUPPORT E CHILD SUPPORT              1,200.50  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES           20,687.38  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE               1,233.35  

ROAD FUND    
NET PAYROLL             64,198.47  

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE  I PREMIUMS              1,053.20  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET           10,317.59  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS              4,288.00  

BUFFALO CO COURT E GARNISHMENT                 228.50  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS                 821.66  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES           18,793.93  

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS                 181.36  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY                 112.14  

METLIFE  E DENTAL                 986.61  

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT R DEFERRED COMP                 272.50  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES              2,789.27  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE                 314.14  

WEED FUND    
NET PAYROLL                5,728.20  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET                 900.84  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS                 346.00  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS                    33.33  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES              1,789.53  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY                      3.94  

METLIFE E DENTAL                     60.36  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES                 264.73  

 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Klein to approve the early claim submitted by the County Clerk as listed below. Upon 

roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Klein, Higgins, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion 

declared carried.  

ROAD FUND      

STATE OF NE-MOTOR FUELS E FUEL TAX $3,122.00 

  



 Moved by Lynch and seconded by Kouba to accept the Clerk of the District Court December 2024 Report. Upon roll call vote, 

the following Board members voted "Aye": Lynch, Kouba, Higgins, Klein, Loeffelholz, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Klein to accept the Buffalo County Treasurer December 2024 Fund Balance Report. 

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Klein, Higgins, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. 

Motion declared carried. 

Moved by Maendele and seconded by Klein to approve the release of pledged collateral in the amount of $60,000.00 from 

FirsTier Bank for the Buffalo County Treasurer. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Maendele, Klein, 

Higgins, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Lynch and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 After discussion, it was moved by Maendele and seconded by Lynch to approve the letter of support for Economic Development 

Council and Chairperson’s signature. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Maendele, Lynch, Higgins, Klein, 

Kouba, Loeffelholz and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Klein to re-appoint the following appointed officials for 2025: John Maul as the Highway 

Superintendent, Bret Stubbs as the Weed Superintendent, Lisa Poff as the Election Commissioner, Matthew Starkey as the Veteran’s 

Service Officer, Stephen Gaasch as the Facilities Director, Darrin Lewis as the Emergency Manager, Dennise Daniels as the 

Floodplain/Zoning Administrator and Lynn Martin as the Board Administrator. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted 

"Aye": Loeffelholz, Klein, Higgins, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried.   

   

ZONING 

 Zoning Administrator Dennise Daniels was present for the following Zoning agenda item.  

 Chairperson Morrow opened the public hearing at 9:16 A.M. for an Application for Administrative Subdivision to be known as 

“Niemack Administrative Subdivision” filed by Mitch Humphrey, licensed land surveyor on behalf of Gregory S. Niemack, Managing 

Member, MGNFT, L.L.C. located in Part of the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter and Part of the Northwest Quarter of the 

Northeast Quarter of Section Twenty-Two (22), Township Nine (9) North, Range Thirteen (13) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, 

Buffalo County, Nebraska. Licensed land surveyor Humphrey was present to answer questions and no one else addressed the Board. 

Chairperson Morrow closed the public hearing at 9:19 A.M. Moved by Lynch and seconded by Higgins to approve Administrative 

Subdivision to be known as “Niemack Administrative Subdivision” with the following Resolution 2025-01. Upon roll call vote, the 

following Board members voted “Aye”: Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Loeffelholz, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

RESOLUTION 2025-01 

 WHEREAS, Mitch Humphrey, licensed land surveyor, on behalf of Gregory S. Niemack, Managing Member, MGNFT, L.L.C., 

hereinafter referred to as “applicant”, has filed for an Administrative Subdivision to be known as “Niemack Administrative Subdivision”, 

with the Buffalo County Clerk and/or Zoning Administrator, and 

 WHEREAS, the Zoning Administrator forwarded this application to this Board, and 

 WHEREAS, on January 14, 2025, this Board conducted a public hearing now and finds: 

 

1. The proposed “Niemack Administrative Subdivision” is in the Agricultural (AG) Zoning District for Buffalo County, 

Nebraska.  

2. The remaining portion of the subdivided tract, presently owned by MGNFT, L.L.C., is situated in Part of the North Half of the 

Northwest Quarter and Part of the Northwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter in Section Twenty-Two (22), Township Nine 

(9) North, Range Thirteen (13) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, complies with the minimum 

lot size of this zoning district; any remnant property not subdivided and owned by MGNFT, L.L.C., amounts to roughly 118 

acres. 

3. The proposed plat for this subdivision fulfills Buffalo County’s Subdivision Resolution requirements for administrative 

subdivisions specifically allowed under Section 3.02, together with other provisions applicable, thereto. 

4. 70th Road is a county-maintained, open public road and it abuts the subdivision on its north side. The width of 70th Road 

meets this county’s minimum width standards.  

5. Title search paperwork has been provided to the Buffalo County Attorney’s Office and that office has cleared title as concerns 

Buffalo County’s interests based upon the title search documents delivered to that office by applicant. 

6. This proposed administrative subdivision should be approved.     

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BUFFALO COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS in regular session 

with a quorum present, that the plat of “Niemack Administrative Subdivision”, an administrative located in Part of the Northeast 

Quarter of the Northwest Quarter and Part of the Northwest Quarter of the Northeast Quarter of Section Twenty-Two (22), 

Township Nine (9) North, Range Thirteen (13) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, duly made out, 

acknowledged and certified, is hereby approved, accepted, ratified, and authorized to be filed and recorded in the Office of the 

Register of Deeds, Buffalo County, Nebraska. 

 



Mitch Humphrey spoke about the Building Restriction Agreement for LOMR-F. No one else addressed the Board. Following 

discussion it was moved by Klein and seconded by Loeffelholz to authorize Chairperson Morrow to sign the Building Restriction 

Agreement for LOMR-F for the property described as Block 1, Lot 12, Bruner Lakeside Estates Second, a subdivision located in Part of 

Government Lot 1, part Government Lot 2 and part of accretion lands deriving from and adjacent to Government Lots 1 and 2 located in 

Section 24, Township 9 North, Range 13 West of the 6th p.m., Buffalo County, Nebraska with the following Resolution 2025-02. Upon 

roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Klein, Loeffelholz, Higgins, Kouba, Lynch, Maendele and Morrow. Motion 

declared carried. 

RESOLUTION 2025-02 

 WHEREAS, in 1986 Buffalo County, Nebraska adopted and enacted floodplain regulations and has amended the regulations at 

various times in the past, and 

 WHEREAS, there has been a request submitted to the Buffalo County Floodplain Administrator for a Letter of Map Revision on 

the basis of fill (LOMR-F) for property sought to be removed from the Special Flood Hazards Area, as defined in Buffalo County’s 

Floodplain Regulations Resolution, hereinafter referred to as the “subject property”, and  

 WHEREAS, the request and engineer certifications that accompany the LOMR-F application that were submitted to the 

Floodplain Administrator fulfill the necessary local standards and findings concerning structures and fill placed on the subject property as 

required by the Federal Emergency Management Administration (FEMA) for the applicant seeking LOMR-F from FEMA, and 

 WHEREAS, this Board deems it prudent to enter into a Development Restriction Agreement concerning future development in 

and upon the subject property and the Buffalo County Attorney’s Office has reviewed and approved a proposed agreement to be executed 

on behalf of Buffalo County and the party seeking the LOMR-F. 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF BUFFALO COUNTY THAT the 

structure and development now existing on the subject property as certified by a professional engineer, fulfill the required local 

government standards and findings for structures and fill placed on the subject property, and the Chairperson of this Board is authorized 

to execute on behalf of Buffalo County, the proposed Development Restriction Agreement, and 

 IT IS RESOLVED the subject property is legally described as: 

Lot Twelve (12), Block One (1), Bruner Lakeside Estates Second, a subdivision being part of Government Lot One (1), part of 

Government Lot Two (2), and part of accretion lands deriving from and adjacent to Government Lot One (1) and Government Lot Two 

(2) located in Section Twenty-four (24), Township Nine (9) North, Range Thirteen (13) West of the 6th P.M., Buffalo County, Nebraska.  

 

 IT IS FURTHER RESOLVED that a copy of this Resolution shall be filed with the Development Restriction Agreement against 

the subject property. 

 

 Chairperson Morrow reviewed the following correspondence. Court Appointed Special Advocates for Children (CASA) send a 

letter and pamphlet for their annual fundraising event on March 28, 2025 “Light of Hope” included is also a sponsorship form for 

donations. City of Kearney sent a letter regarding the Planning Commission Agenda for January 17, 2025. Development Council for 

Buffalo County sent a card thanking the Board for their continued support and to wish a Happy New Year. Kinship Pointe sent a 

Pamphlet and Calendar of events for January 2025. Chairperson Morrow called on each Board member present for committee reports 

and recommendations. 

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to recess the regular meeting of the Board of Commissioners at 9:36 A.M. and 

reconvene as a Board of Equalization. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, 

Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

BOARD OF EQUALIZATION 

Chairperson Morrow called the Board of Equalization to order in open session. County Assessor Roy Meusch and County 

Treasurer Brenda Rohrich were present. 

 Moved by Lynch and seconded by Maendele to approve Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal as indicated on the application 

by County Treasurer Rohrich for Christian Student Fellowship on a 2018 Ford Transit 350 Van. Upon roll call vote, the following Board 

members voted "Aye": Lynch, Maendele, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Loeffelholz and Morrow. Motion declared carried.   

Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to approve Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal as indicated on the application 

by County Treasurer Rohrich for Good Samaritan Hospital on a 1999 Ford Cutaway Van, a 2000 Chevy ½ Ton Pickup, a 2001 Dodge 

Ram Pickup, a 2002 Ford Cutaway Van, a 2003 Ford Ambulance, a 2003 Pont Montana Van, a 2003 Ford Bus, a 2005 Chevy ¾ Ton 

Pickup, a 2007 Ford Explorer, a 2008 Buick Lacrosse, a 2008 Ford Ambulance, a 2010 Chevy Ambulance, a 2011 Chevy Express Van, a 

2012 McCoy Miller Ambulance, a 2012 Ford F450, a 2013 Chevy Ambulance, a 2014 GMC Caravan, a 2015 Chevy Ambulance and a 



2018 Chevy Express Van. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, Klein, Kouba 

and Morrow. Abstain: Maendele. Motion declared carried.   

Moved by Lynch and seconded by Loeffelholz to approve Motor Vehicle Tax Exemption renewal as indicated on the application 

by County Treasurer Rohrich for Goodwill Industries of Greater Nebraska, Inc. on a 2009 Chevy HHR, a 2013 Hyundai Accent, a 2016 

Chrysler Town & Country, (2) 2017 Chevy Cruzes, a 2017 Dodge Grand Caravan, a 2018 Dodge Grand Caravan, a 2018 Chrysler 

Pacifica, a 2019 Dodge Grand Caravan, a 2021 Chrysler Voyager and a 2024 Chrysler Voyager. Upon roll call vote, the following Board 

members voted "Aye": Lynch, Loeffelholz, Higgins, Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

 Moved by Klein and seconded by Kouba to approve Tax List Corrections numbered 5065 through 5071 submitted by County 

Assessor Meusch. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Klein, Kouba, Higgins, Loeffelholz, Lynch, Maendele 

and Morrow. Motion declared carried.  

 On October 8, 2024 the County Board of Commissioners sitting as the County Board of Equalization approved 2024-2025 levy 

rate with Resolution 2024-48. On November 12, 2024 a columniation request was approved with Resolution 2024-48A by the Board of 

Commissioners sitting as the County Board of Equalization. A further columniation request has been received. Pleasanton Schools 

“Special Building” fund needs to be moved to the “Capital” column. No levy amounts have changed.  Moved by Maendele and seconded 

by Kouba to accept the columniation change to the previously approved County levies with the following Resolution 2024-48B. Upon 

roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Maendele, Kouba, Higgins, Klein, Loeffelholz, Lynch and Morrow. Motion 

declared carried. 

RESOLUTION 2024-48B 

   PROPERTY TAX RATES 2024-2025    

COUNTY FUNDS  LEVY       

GENERAL  0.314032       

BOND  0.021068       

VETERAN'S AID  0.000379       

TOTAL  0.335479       

         

BUFFALO COUNTY AGRICULTURAL SOCIETY      

GENERAL 0.009247 SINKING 0.014620      

          

FIRE 

DISTRICTS GENERAL SINKING   BOND    

SUBURBAN #1   0.023539   0.008410          0.003712     

GIBBON #2   0.011623         

SHELTON #3 Set By Hall County        

PLEASANTON #4   0.065336               

RAVENNA #5   0.003147           0.003648     

MILLER #6   0.011202         

ELM CREEK #7   0.009976           0.010974     

AMHERST #8   0.014859           0.023116     

         

SID #3 

GENERAL 0.163424        

         

CITY/VILLAGE GENERAL BOND   PARKING   CRA 

AMHERST 0.080767 0.176790        

ELM CREEK 0.078564 0.321436       

GIBBON 0.400000 0.145000        

KEARNEY 0.140812 0.008058    0.100865   0.006892 

MILLER 0.474892        

PLEASANTON 0.175202 0.064584       

RAVENNA 0.374383        

RIVERDALE 0.073889         

SHELTON 0.499999 0.176354        

          

SCHOOL DISTRICTS        

DISTRICT NO. GENERAL BOND 

K-8 or 

2009 9-12 or 2013 CAPITAL  SP BLDG  

GIBBON 2 0.946437 0.144832    0.045342  

KEARNEY 7 0.857176  0.062485 0.084778 0.029556 0.108546  
ELM CREEK 9 0.878787 0.181818      0.050505  



SHELTON 19 1.007305 0.057588   0.022555 0.023995  

RAVENNA 69 0.543891    0.029523 0.137772  
PLEASANTON R105 0.841058 0.135619    0.029858   

AMHERST 119 0.667267 0.140667    0.009618  
  

 Moved by Loeffelholz and seconded by Lynch to adjourn the Board of Equalization and return to the regular meeting of the 

Board of Commissioners at 9:46 A.M. Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted "Aye": Loeffelholz, Lynch, Higgins, 

Klein, Kouba, Maendele and Morrow. Motion declared carried. 

REGULAR AGENDA 

 Facilities Director Stephen Gaasch presented a review of the current construction projects in Buffalo County with the Board.   

 County Attorney Shawn Eatherton arrived at 9:52 A.M. 

 Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister and Deputy County Attorney Davis left the meeting at 9:52 A.M. 

 Chairperson Morrow called for Citizen’s forum and no one addressed the Board. 

Chairperson Morrow asked if there was anything else to come before the Board at 9:58 A.M. before he declared the meeting 

adjourned until the regular meeting on Tuesday, January 28, 2025 at 9:00 A.M. 

 

ATTEST: 

 

___________________________________             _________________________________   

Sherry L. Morrow, Chairperson      Heather A. Christensen   

Buffalo County Board of Commissioners             (SEAL)  Buffalo County Clerk 

 

  

 

 

 

 



JANUARY 24, 2025 PAYROLL 
 

GENERAL FUND    

NET PAYROLL     368,311.18  

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE  I PREMIUMS       1,554.52  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET     65,217.18  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS   173,494.50  

EMPOWER ANNUITY INS R DEFERRED COMP       1,075.00  

FAMILY SUPPORT REGISTRY E GARNISHMENT          150.00  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS       6,631.60  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES   124,230.42  

KEARNEY UNITED WAY E DONATIONS            67.42  

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS       1,164.67  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY          308.77  

ERIN M MCCARTNEY E GARNISHMENT          402.00  

METLIFE  E DENTAL        4,257.77  

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT  R DEFERRED COMP       2,232.00  

NE CHILD SUPPORT E CHILD SUPPORT       1,200.50  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES     19,360.01  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE        1,233.73  

ROAD FUND    

NET PAYROLL       68,614.02  

AMERICAN FAMILY LIFE  I PREMIUMS       1,084.14  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET     11,007.26  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS       4,288.00  

BUFFALO CO COURT G GARNISHMENT          228.50  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS          821.66  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES     20,317.01  

MADISON NATIONAL I PREMIUMS          181.45  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY          125.26  

METLIFE  E DENTAL       1,041.03  

NATIONWIDE RETIREMENT R DEFERRED COMP          272.50  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES       3,049.18  

VISION SERVICE PLAN E EMPE VSP EYE          333.55  

WEED FUND    

NET PAYROLL         5,728.19  

RETIREMENT PLANS AMERITAS R EMPE RET          900.84  

BUFFALO CO TREASURER I PREMIUMS          346.00  

FIRST CONCORD E FLEX FUNDS            33.33  

FIRST NATIONAL BANK T FEDERAL TAXES       1,789.53  

MADISON NATIONAL I LT DISABILITY              3.95  

METLIFE E DENTAL             60.36  

STATE OF NE T STATE TAXES          264.73  







































 
Kearney Visitors Bureau 

Buffalo County Visitor Promotion Committee 
Board Terms 

December 2024 
 

 

Paul Younes:   2023-2026 – Chairman 

Ben Holl:    2023-2026 – Vice Chairman 

Jackie Purdy:   2023-2026 - Secretary-Treasurer 

Brad Kernick:   2024-2027 

Tammy Jackson:  2024-2027 

Tim Mannlein:   2024-2027  

Yousef Ghamedi: 2025-2028 

 

Tim Higgins:  Buffalo County Ex officio 

Jonathan Nikkila: City of Kearney Ex officio 

 

 













 

 
ZONING AGENDA ITEM #1 

 
 

MEETING DATE:  January 28, 2025 

AGENT: Mitchell Humphrey, licensed land surveyor, on behalf of Tyler McNitt and 
Kasey McNitt 

SUBJECT: Building Restriction Agreement & LOMR-F for property described as part 
of the Southeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter of Section 3, Township 
9 North, Range 16 West of the 6th P.M., Buffalo County, Nebraska. 

 
Discussion: 
 
Tyler McNitt and Kasey McNitt currently own a property, in the Agricultural – Residential 
(AGR) Zoning District, situated north of Highway 40 and east of Riverdale and sitting in the 
floodplain, Flood Zone A. Parcel ID: 560026110. The owners are requesting to have their 
outbuilding removed from the floodplain, based on elevation. 
 
The agenda item, a Building Restriction Agreement, is a document outlining the risk of building 
in a floodplain area, assuring that any improvements are reasonably safe from flooding. It will 
require the notarized signature of the owners and of the Buffalo County Board of 
Commissioner’s Chairperson. 
 
Additionally, FEMA will require the Letter of Map Revision based on Fill (LOMR-F), which 
shows the elevation, completed by a licensed surveyor or engineer. This document also requires 
the signature of the Buffalo County Board of Commissioner’s Chairperson, on behalf of Buffalo 
County, on the acknowledgment form. 
 
If FEMA approves the LOMR-F, then the Building Restriction Agreement will be recorded in 
the Register of Deeds Office. 
 
We have a copy of the Elevation Form on record, which is enclosed in your packet, that shows 
compliance with our Floodplain Regulations. 
 
 
 

 

BUFFALO COUNTY ZONING & FLOODPLAIN 
Buffalo County Courthouse 
1512 Central Avenue 
PO Box 1270 
Kearney, NE  68848 
Phone: (308) 236-1998 
Fax: (308) 236-1870 
Email: zoning@buffalocounty.ne.gov 



ZONING AGENDA ITEM #2 
 

 

MEETING DATE:  January 28, 2025 

AGENT: Craig Bennett, of Miller & Associates Consulting Engineers, P.C., on 
behalf of Mark H. Meyer and C. Jayne Meyer, also known as Claudia 
Jayne Meyer, and Loren Bakko, Manager of Bakko Land, L.L.C. 

SUBJECT: Application for Zoning Map Amendment, recessed from 12/23/2024, for 
property described as part of the West Half of the Northwest Quarter of 
Section Eight (8), Township Nine (9) North, Range Sixteen (16) West of 
the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, to rezone 
approximately 30.13 Acres (with a recent request for amendment to 17.56 
acres), more or less, from Agricultural – Residential (AGR) to 
Commercial (C).  

Discussion: 
 
Per Zoning Regulations, Section 11.3, the Board of Commissioners must review any zoning 
amendments, after recommendation of the Planning & Zoning Commission. The applicant was 
seeking to rezone approximately 30.13 acres, with a recent request for amendment to 17.56 acres 
from Agricultural – Residential (AGR) to Commercial (C). 
 
This property is located east of Cottonmill Avenue, south of W. 100th Street.  Parcel ID: 
560388020. 
 
Considerations:  
 

a. That such change in zoning designation would have minimal adverse effect on 
surrounding properties. 

b. That the intended use of the Commercial (C) District is consistent with property use 
in the surrounding area. 

c. This amendment is consistent with the growth and development of Buffalo County 
and the overall Comprehensive Plan adopted by Buffalo County, Nebraska, and 

d. The subject property is situated close to already existing public improvements, such 
as sufficient utilities so that the map amendment with its attendant changes in uses 
will not cause additional public costs to function effectively. 

 
At the November 21, 2024 Buffalo County Planning Commission Meeting, a motion was made 
by Schmidt and seconded by Jeffs to recommend forwarding the Application for Zoning Map 
Amendment favorably, on an 6-1 vote, with no abstentions and one absence, together with the 
following condition: any structure shall have a minimum setback of 90 feet from the center of 
Cottonmill Avenue and the center of 100th Street. 
 
Voting yes: Sedlacek, Schmidt, Jeffs, Keep, Wolfe, & Stubblefield. 
Voting no: Brady.   
Abstain: None. 
Absent: Vacek. 
 
No opposition was received for this application. 



Planning  
& 

Zoning 
Commission 

Minutes 

November 21, 2024 



 

1 
 

MINUTES OF PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION 
NOVEMBER 21, 2024 

BUFFALO COUNTY COURTHOUSE  
7:00 P.M. 

 
Notice of the meeting was given in advance thereof by publication in the Kearney Hub, the 
designated method for giving notice, on November 7, 2024. A copy of the proof of publication is 
on file in the Zoning Administrator’s Office. Advance notice of the meeting was also given to 
the Planning and Zoning Commission and availability of the Agenda was communicated in the 
advance notice. The Agenda is available for anyone wanting a copy. 
 
Chairperson Scott Brady opened the meeting at 7:00 P.M. on November 21, 2024.  He 
announced that Francis “Buss” Biehl has resigned from his position on The Planning 
Commission and on November 12, 2024, Jeremy Sedlacek was appointed in his place. 
 
In Attendance: Kurt Schmidt, Willie Keep, Loye Wolfe, Tammy Jeffs, Scott Stubblefield, 
Jeremy Sedlacek and Scott Brady. 
 
Absent was Marc Vacek. 
 
Quorum has been met. 
 
Also attending were: Deputy County Attorney Josiah Davis, Deputy County Attorney Andrew 
Hoffmeister, and Zoning Administrator Dennise Daniels. There were several members of the 
public present. 
 
Chairperson Brady announced The Open Meetings Act and amended agendas were available if 
anyone wished to have one. 
 
The public forum was opened at 7:02 P.M. No one spoke. The public forum closed at 7:03 P.M.  
 
Chairperson Brady announced the procedure and etiquette for the upcoming public hearings. 
 
Public Hearing. 5(a) 
 
Chairperson Brady opened the public hearing for Agenda Item 5(a) at 7:04 P.M. regarding an 
Application for Zoning Map Amendment, filed by Chad Dixon, licensed land surveyor, on behalf 
of Brian Stittle, member of Poole Ranch Developer, L.L.C., for property described as All of 
Government Lot 1, Part of the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter, Part of Government 
Lot 2, Part of the Southeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter and Part of the Northwest Quarter 
of the Northeast Quarter of Section Nineteen (19), Township Twelve (12) North, Range Fourteen 
(14) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, to rezone approximately 
73.26 Acres, more or less, from Agriculture (AG) to Agricultural – Residential (AGR). 

Chad Dixon, of Miller and Associates, Consulting Engineers, P.C., located at 1111 Central 
Avenue, Kearney, Nebraska, stepped forward to present the application. Mr. Dixon stated that 



 

2 
 

the proposed zoning map amendment was in conjunction with Zoning Agenda Item #2. He stated 
that the applicant intends to rezone approximately 73 acres into a 17-lot subdivision. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister reviewed the Agricultural – Residential (AGR) Intent. He 
asked which school district this particular subdivision would be located and Mr. Dixon explained 
it would be located within the Ravenna School District and would benefit their community. Mr. 
Dixon added that the proposed subdivision will be situated on a hard-surfaced road and within 
close proximity of the city of Ravenna. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Mr. Dixon how close the proposed subdivision is to 
the extra territorial jurisdiction of Ravenna and Zoning Administrator Daniels stated it was 
approximately half of a mile.  

Mr. Schmidt asked Mr. Dixon if Keystone Road was minimum maintenance after the 340th 
Road/Keystone Road curvature and Mr. Dixon confirmed that it was not minimum maintenance 
until Thomas Hongsermeier’s driveway. Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister confirmed. 

Chairperson Brady asked if there were plans to have the easterly roads paved and Mr. Dixon 
responded there was not. Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister stated that the roads would need 
to meet minimum road specifications and the developer would need to enter in a Road 
Maintenance Agreement.  

Secretary Wolfe inquired how many residences were located within that quarter section and Mr. 
Dixon responded that there was one.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Zoning Administrator Daniels how many 
Agricultural – Residential (AGR) Districts were located within a certain parameter of this 
particular subdivision. Those were reviewed by The Commission. 

Secretary Wolfe asked if the interior roads would be gravel and Mr. Dixon confirmed they 
would. 

Chairperson Brady inquired if the developer had discussed the Keystone/340th Road curvature 
with the Buffalo County Sheriff’s Office or the Highway Department how to mitigate the 
dangerous intersection. Mr. Dixon stated that they had not, at this time, because they are in 
preliminary stages. Once the preliminary plat is approved, he continued, road design will be 
reviewed further. Chairperson Brady stated that he had safety concerns for that access.  

Mr. Dixon thanked The Commission for their time. 

Mr. William DeLaet, of 28800 Buckeye Road, Ravenna, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak in 
opposition of the project. Mr. DeLaet stated that he owns land directly to the north of the 
proposed subdivision and rezoning. He voiced concerns about the safety of the curve along 
Keystone Road, merging into 340th Road, and the number of accidents that occur. He also 
explained that he is concerned about maintaining his pasture land next to a large development, 
including spraying. He stated that he does not want any residences out there.  

Mr. DeLaet thanked the Commission for their time.  



 

3 
 

Mr. Gary Urwiller of 2705 72nd Avenue. Kearney, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak in 
opposition of the project. He stated that he and his wife own the half section in Section 24, 
Township 12 North, Range 15 West of the 6th P.M., Buffalo County, Nebraska, as Cherry Creek 
Farms, L.L.C. He explained that family members also own property to the north of 340th Road. 
He testified that he has concerns regarding moving farm equipment along Keystone Road and 
340th Road with an increase in traffic.  

He added that he has concerns regarding spraying on his land because drift can flow to sensitive 
areas, such as residences with trees, flowers, and gardens. He believes that it is going to create 
difficulty for him to maintain and spray his fields with westerly winds. 

Mr. Urwiller thanked the Commission for their time.  

Mr. Mark Standage and Mr. Ethan Standage, of 37995 295th Road, Ravenna, Nebraska, stepped 
forward to testify on the project. Mr. Mark Standage also expressed concern regarding the 
amount of vehicle accidents, the lack of lighting, and lack of signage at the curve along 340th 
Road and Keystone Road.  

Mr. Mark Standage testified that he is not against development, but does not want the 
subdivision located in that particular area. He added that Ravenna is difficult to build around 
because of the railroad crossings, lagoons, river, creek, family ownerships, school land 
ownerships, etc.  

He added that he does not want to have 17 residences next to land, that he rents from William 
DeLaet, for cattle grazing, directly to the north of the subdivision. He said that fireworks, dogs, 
and other residential disturbances can affect his livelihood.  

Mr. Ethan Standage added that there are lots for sale in a subdivision in Ravenna’s city limits, 
which are not selling. 

Chairperson Brady asked if either of the gentlemen had an idea of a good alternative for the road 
system for this development and Mr. Mark Standage explained that it would require a lot of dirt 
work. 

Mr. Ethan Standage added that, with livestock and residential development clashing, there are 
always complaints such as flies, cattle getting out, etc.  

Mr. Mark Standage and Mr. Ethan Standage thanked The Commission for their time. 

Ms. Sarah Ripp, of 27250 Keystone Road Ravenna, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak in 
opposition of the project. She testified that she has environmental concerns. She testified that the 
area of proposed development is extremely sandy and the grassland and animals that are there 
now, have taken many years to adapt for survival. She testified that the grasslands can store up to 
one third of the terrestrial soil organic carbon pool. She added that one acre of grassland can 
absorb up to 1 ton of carbon in its roots in a single year.  

She added that, aside from enjoying the prairie view, the grasslands also improve water filtration 
and reduce water runoff, which affect drinking water and pivot irrigation. 



 

4 
 

She testified that removing the native vegetation, which has tremendously deep roots and keep 
the sandy soil together, would be detrimental and the sandy soil will blow. 

She, also, reviewed several endangered species that could be affected by the development.  

She closed out her testimony by explaining that the development would also cause the loss of 
grazable acres for local ranchers. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister inquired where Ms. Ripp resides in comparison to the 
proposed development and Ms. Ripp responded that she lives south and her brother rents land 
from Mr. DeLaet. 

Chairperson Brady asked Ms. Ripp how she feels about development occurring along pivot 
corners and Ms. Ripp responded that she disagrees with developments in Buffalo County, but the 
proposed development affects her directly. 

Ms. Ripp thanked The Commission for their time.  

Mr. Brian Stittle, of 47687 776th Road, Ravenna, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak in favor of 
the project. He explained that he is one of the members of the development team on the proposed 
project.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister inquired where Mr. Stittle resides in comparison to the 
proposed development and Mr. Stittle responded that he resides in Sherman County, but he was 
raised in Ravenna. He explained that he doesn’t foresee a lot of issues with the development 
because it is his hope that the individuals that purchase the land will be from Nebraska and are 
familiar with farm life.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Mr. Stittle if the development fulfils a public need 
by developing the proposed tract of land, and Mr. Stittle answered that there are individuals who 
would prefer to the country views, but want to reside within a certain parameter of the city. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Mr. Stittle if he believed the development would 
cause an increase and traffic and Mr. Stittle responded that there will be a traffic increase. He 
acknowledged that the curve along Keystone Road is a dangerous intersection, but individuals 
should be aware of traffic laws and attentive to driving. Mr. Stittle added that he works on the 
fire department and is aware of the issues of the intersection. He added that, perhaps, it could be 
mitigated by adding more lighting. 

Discussion occurred regarding lack of ability to acquire land around the city of Ravenna, along 
paved roads. 

Chairperson Brady inquired the reason why this particular tract was selected and Mr. Stittle 
responded that it was available. 

Chairperson Brady asked what the developer intended to do to mitigate any ecological concerns 
that were brought forth and Mr. Stittle responded that dirt work would be occurring, but they 
would be laying grass seed for mitigation. 



 

5 
 

Mr. Stittle thanked The Commission for their time.  

Mr. William DeLaet, again, stepped forward to provide comment. He added that there is another 
subdivision that was attempted to develop near the cemetery. 

Mr. Trevor Staab, of 27250 Keystone Road, Ravenna, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak in 
opposition of the project. He testified that he, along with Sarah Ripp, have significant concerns 
regarding ecological impact and the existing sandy soil. He added that he, also, rents land from 
William DeLaet and operates a feed lot.  

He stated that he is well aware of the impacts of having residential development next to rural 
farming.  

He agreed with prior testimony from adjoining land owners that will have difficulty maintaining 
and spraying their properties with the residential development directly across the road.  

Chairperson Brady inquired if Mr. Staab found the location suitable, and Mr. Staab stated he did 
not believe it is, with consideration given to the soil types and the dangerous intersection. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked what would happen to family-owned land in two 
generations and Mr. Staab responded that residential development could occur. Attorney 
Hoffmeister explained that The Planning Commission needs to consider highest and best use 
when approving or denying any development. He added that, other than Kearney, Ravenna, 
Gibbon, and potentially, Elm Creek, are classified as “city-sized”. 

Mr. Staab thanked The Commission for their time.  

Mr. Chad Dixon stepped forward to discuss concerns brought forth by the public. He referenced 
the intersection that was brought forth. He testified that he believed the intersection was a county 
road concern, not a development issue. However, he continued, the developer would consider 
negotiating a different road design. Vice-Chairperson Keep recommended having a merger lane. 
Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister stated that may not be a feasible option with the way the 
road is situated.  

Mr. Dixon added that the development was available ground and very desirable with the river 
valley frontage.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked where the power to the subdivision would be located 
and Mr. Dixon responded that it was located on the corner. 

Chairperson Brady inquired if there was flexibility regarding the road design and Mr. Dixon 
responded that there is room for flexibility, if the need occurred, as the application in front of 
The Commission is a preliminary plat.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister reminded The Commission that the discussion at hand was 
regarding the Change of Zoning Application for Agricultural – Residential (AGR) District. He 
stated that The Commission needed to consider the allowability of this area being more densely 
populated. 



 

6 
 

Mr. James Friesen, of 1330 W. 102nd Street Place, Kearney, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak 
in favor of the project. Mr. Friesen stated that his wife is one of the investors. He stated that the 
development group, that is spearheading this project, is considering the needs of Ravenna. The 
concerns brought forth, he acknowledged, are good concerns and he appreciated everyone’s 
testimony. He stated that he lives in a rural subdivision and has faced the concerns that were 
discussed, but his perception was that most of the neighbors were understanding of living in an 
agriculturally-driven area.   

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Mr. Friesen how the development would benefit 
Ravenna and Mr. Friesen responded that Ravenna does not have a rural residential option within 
short driving distance, as do the other communities in Buffalo County.    

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister inquired if the school system in Ravenna was capable of 
providing support for families that may reside in the subdivision and Mr. Friesen answered that 
he believed that it could, but there may be challenges.  

Chairperson Brady asked if the developers have been approached about individuals interested in 
purchasing the lots in the proposed subdivision and Mr. Friesen said that they are not being 
actively marketed, but have been approached by individuals who believe the development is a 
good idea. Furthermore, he added, it will be encouraged to have individuals who purchase the 
lots keep some areas native.  

Mr. Sedlacek inquired if Mr. Friesen’s bank is financing the development and Mr. Friesen stated 
that they are not.  

Mr. Friesen thanked The Commission for their time. 

Mr. Larry Behrendt, of 25710 Imperial Road, Ravenna, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak in 
favor of the project. He testified that he is, also, part of the investment group. He explained that 
the development group was created after Ravenna’s grocery store closed. In order to provide a 
service to Ravenna, the group decided it would be beneficial to create a rural residential 
development. He added that he was interested in buying one of the proposed lots to build a 
smaller house, after selling his existing residence to his daughter. He said that he and his wife 
want the opportunity to reside closer to Ravenna and avoid traveling via gravel roads.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Mr. Behrendt where he resides, in relation to the 
proposed development and Mr. Behrendt responded that he lives approximately five miles 
southwest.  

Mr. Behrendt acknowledged the concerns brought forth, but stated that they’ve already tried to 
develop lands around Ravenna and they can’t acquire any.  

He added that the development group has concerns regarding the inability of Ravenna to provide 
exceptional housing for new residents, as well as the school student numbers dwindling.   

Mr. Behrendt thanked The Commission for their time.  



 

7 
 

Mr. Tom Hongsermeier, of 33085 Keystone Road, Ravenna, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak 
in favor of the project. He stated that he is also part of the development group. He said that he 
thinks that there is not enough available housing for Ravenna residents who want the opportunity 
of country living, but live within a short distance of city amenities.  

The environment, he continued, is a concern for him as well. However, he stated there will be 
covenants in place to mitigate against wind and water erosion. Living in the country, he added, 
people need to be understanding of country living and agricultural uses.  

He acknowledged the intersection concerns, but said that it has been that way for 50 years.  

Mr. Hongsermeier thanked The Commission for their time.  

Discussion occurred regarding building along minimum maintenance roads. 

Discussion occurred regarding the unincorporated village of Poole.  

Chairperson Brady asked if anyone else wished to speak. No one spoke. 

Chairperson Brady closed the public hearing at 8:18. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister referred to the following section in Buffalo County Zoning 
Regulations, Section 11.3: 

“The procedure for the consideration and adoption of any such proposed amendments shall be in 
like manner as that required for the consideration and adoption of the resolution except herein 
before or herein after modified.  For action on zoning amendments, a quorum of the Planning 
Commission is more than one-half (½) of all the members.  A vote either for or against an 
amendment by a majority of all the Planning Commission members present constitutes a 
recommendation of the commission; whereas a vote either for or against an amendment by less 
than a majority of the Planning Commission present constitutes a failure to recommend.  When 
amending zoning district boundaries, the Planning Commission and County Board where 
applicable and authorized may place conditions upon property sought to be rezoned.  (Resolution 
9-14-04) 

When the Planning Commission submits a recommendation of approval or disapproval of such 
amendment, the County Board, if it approves such recommendation, may either adopt such 
recommendation by resolution or take no further action thereof as appropriate.  In the event the 
Planning Commission submits a failure to recommend, the County Board may take such action 
as it deems appropriate.  Upon receipt of a recommendation of the Planning Commission which 
the County Board disapproves, the said governing body shall return such recommendation to the 
Planning Commission with a statement specifying the basis for disapproval, and such 
recommendation shall be considered in like manner as that required for the original 
recommendation returned to the Planning Commission. If such amendment shall affect the 
boundaries of any district, the resolution shall define the change or the boundary as amended, 
shall order the Official Zoning Map(s) to be changed to reflect such amendment, and shall amend 
the section of the resolution incorporating the same and reincorporate such Map as amended.” 



 

8 
 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister counselled The Commission that they needed to provide 
reasoning if the project is approved or denied.  If they wished to approved the change of zoning 
request, the reasons for approval should be that the subdivision abuts a paved road, there is a 
need of a housing, it is within close proximity of the city of Ravenna, and has available utilities.  

Mr. Schmidt asked Mr. Hongsermeier what the existing land is being used for and Mr. 
Hongsermeier responded with grazing. Mr. Schmidt inquired the number of cattle situated on the 
land and Mr. Hongsermeier responded seven to eight acres per head.  

Vice-Chairperson Keep said that he was happy with the subdivision being located within close 
proximity of Ravenna and along a paved road, but had concerns regarding the intersection. He 
said that this particular subdivision fits within the Agricultural – Residential intent.  

Mr. Schmidt agreed with Vice-Chairperson Keep. He stated that he was, also, concerned about 
the intersection. However, he continued, after researching census data, he found that the 
population in Ravenna is slipping and this development may provide a public service to 
Ravenna.  

Secretary Wolfe commented that she appreciated the concept of a rural residential development 
to support a community. She, also, appreciated the use of covenants to address some concerns. 

Chairperson Brady stated that he understood the ecological and economic impacts of the 
subdivision and that the traffic concerns need to be addressed. He stated that rural residential 
should be allowed, but under the right conditions.  

Mr. Stubblefield stated that he appreciated the covenants and that the development group is 
developing the subdivision for the good of Ravenna. He added that regardless of where the 
development occurs, there could still be a significant increase of traffic along the road.  

Ms. Jeffs said that she appreciates the group considering the need for housing in Ravenna, 
placing the development along a paved road, supporting the school system with additional 
students, and being within close proximity of the city.  

Mr. Sedlacek commented that he appreciates everyone’s viewpoints from the public. He added 
that he has concerns regarding the dangerous curve along Keystone Road. However, he 
continued, he appreciated the 17-lot availability and having the previous land owner, Mr. 
Hongsermeier, involved in the project process.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister counselled that The Commission agrees that the project 
needs to progress, but how is the question. 

Vice-Chairperson Keep inquired what actions could be taken by The Buffalo County Highway 
Department to correct the curve along Keystone Road and Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister 
advised that he is unable to speak on their behalf. He reminded The Commission they are tasked 
with establishing if this particular area is a suitable location for denser housing within close 
proximity of the city of Ravenna and with available utilities.  

Road dedication and vacation were discussed.  



 

9 
 

Chairperson Brady announced that The Commission would take a break at 8:41 P.M.  

The Commission reconvened at 8:50 P.M. with the following members present: Schmidt, Keep, 
Wolfe, Jeffs, Stubblefield, Sedlacek and Brady.  

Motion was made by Vice-Chairperson Keep, and seconded by Ms. Jeffs to favorably 
recommend the zoning map amendment, for property described as All of Government Lot 1, Part 
of the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter, Part of Government Lot 2, Part of the 
Southeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter and Part of the Northwest Quarter of the Northeast 
Quarter of Section Nineteen (19), Township Twelve (12) North, Range Fourteen (14) West of 
the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, to rezone approximately 73.26 Acres, 
more or less, from Agriculture (AG) to Agricultural – Residential (AGR) due to the subdivision 
abutting a paved road, the need of a housing, being within close proximity of the city of 
Ravenna, and availability of utilities to the Buffalo County  Board of Commissioners. 

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Jeffs, Keep, Sedlacek, 
Stubblefield and Wolfe. 
Voting “Nay”: Brady and Schmidt.  
Abstain: None. 
Absent: Vacek. 
 
Motion carried. 
 
Chairperson Brady opened the public hearing for Agenda Item 5(b) at 8:53 P.M. regarding an 
Application for Preliminary Subdivision, “Riverview Estates Subdivision”, now known as 
“Poole Ranch Subdivision”, filed by Chad Dixon, licensed land surveyor, on behalf of Brian 
Stittle, member of Poole Ranch Developer, L.L.C., for property described as All of Government 
Lot 1, Part of the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter, Part of Government Lot 2, Part of 
the Southeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter and Part of the Northwest Quarter of the 
Northeast Quarter of Section Nineteen (19), Township Twelve (12) North, Range Fourteen (14) 
West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska. 

Chad Dixon, of Miller and Associates, Consulting Engineers, P.C., located at 1111 Central 
Avenue, Kearney, Nebraska, stepped forward to present the application. He explained that it is a 
17-lot subdivision, abutting 340th Road. He added there will be roads dedicated to the public, one 
of which ending in a cul-de-sac, satisfying any road requirements set forth under the subdivision 
regulations.  

Mr. Dixon reviewed the road grades and the lot layouts. He explained that the development team 
went through the lots to establish desirable locations for residences and those locations are 
indicated on the plat.  

Mr. Dixon reviewed the drainage report, soils report, and roadway design. He, also, reviewed 
deviations, which are shown in The Planning Commission’s Packet. 

Mr. Dixon added that the utilities will come from the northwest corner of the subdivision and 
each lot will have its own well and septic.  



 

10 
 

Mr. Dixon stated that the developer intends to enter into a Road Maintenance Agreement for the 
public roads. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister counselled The Commission on their duties, shown under 
Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations, Section 3.08, “COMMISSION REFERRAL OF 
PRELIMINARY PLAT TO BOARD Following public hearing(s) regarding the Preliminary Plat, 
the Planning Commission shall recommend approval, disapproval, or approval with changes and 
the recommendation shall be transmitted to the Board within seven (7) days following decision 
meeting…” 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister inquired where the postal boxes would be located and Mr. 
Dixon explained that there is a pull over area located in the western part of the subdivision. He 
added, the postal design will need to be approved by the Ravenna Postmaster.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister counselled The Commission that they need to assess 
whether the design of the plat is in compliance with the Buffalo County Subdivision Regulations.  

Chairperson Brady asked if anyone else wished to speak. No one spoke. 

Chairperson Brady closed the public hearing at 9:06 P.M. 

Chairperson Brady stated that he believed the curve along Keystone Road should have resolution 
before approval and Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister referenced Buffalo County 
Subdivision Regulations, Section 3.06 (c), which states, "…regardless of whether the plat is 
recommended for approval or disapproval, the Preliminary plat shall be referred on to the County 
Board with 60 days of first public hearing unless a longer time is agreed upon with the 
subdivider. If not so referred, the County Board may take it up for hearing after the 60 days has 
elapsed of the first public meeting.” He added that The Commission could place conditions on 
the preliminary plat, if they found it necessary.  

Discussion occurred regarding road designs and requirements. 

Mr. Stubblefield commented that The Commission should give the developer the opportunity to 
get to final design stages. 

Ms. Jeffs inquired whether The Commission could put conditions on the preliminary plat and 
Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister advised they could. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister advised that The Commission could place a condition safe 
entry point for the subdivision, established by the county highway superintendent, for both the 
residents of the subdivision, as well as the travelling public. 

Chairperson Brady inquired if a safety study could be required and Deputy County Attorney 
Hoffmeister advised that it could be requested. 

Motion was made by Ms. Jeffs, and seconded by Secretary Wolfe to favorably recommend the 
Application for Preliminary Subdivision, “Riverview Estates Subdivision”, now known as 
“Poole Ranch Subdivision”, filed by Chad Dixon, licensed land surveyor, on behalf of Brian 
Stittle, member of Poole Ranch Developer, L.L.C., for property described as All of Government 



 

11 
 

Lot 1, Part of the Northeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter, Part of Government Lot 2, Part of 
the Southeast Quarter of the Northwest Quarter and Part of the Northwest Quarter of the 
Northeast Quarter of Section Nineteen (19), Township Twelve (12) North, Range Fourteen (14) 
West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska to the Buffalo County Board of 
Commissioners with the following conditions: safe entry point for the subdivision, established by 
the Buffalo County Highway Superintendent, for both the residents of the subdivision, as well as 
the travelling public, a 10-year road maintenance agreement, and a safety study in consideration 
given to road design. 

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Keep, Schmidt, Sedlacek, 
Stubblefield, Wolfe, Brady, and Jeffs. 
Voting “Nay”: None. 
Abstain: None. 
Absent: Vacek. 
 
Motion carried. 
 
Chairperson Brady opened the public hearing for Agenda Item 5(c) at 9:22 P.M., regarding an 
Application for Zoning Map Amendment, filed by Craig Bennett, of Miller & Associates 
Consulting Engineers, P.C., on behalf of Mark H. Meyer and C. Jayne Meyer, also known as 
Claudia Jayne Meyer, and Loren Bakko, Manager of Bakko Land, L.L.C., for property described 
as part of the West Half of the Northwest Quarter of Section Eight (8), Township Nine (9) North, 
Range Sixteen (16) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, to rezone 
approximately 30.13 Acres, more or less, from Agricultural – Residential (AGR) to Commercial 
(C). 

Craig Bennett of Miller and Associates, Consulting Engineers, P.C., located at 1111 Central 
Avenue, Kearney, Nebraska, and Loren Bakko, of Arcadia, Nebraska, stepped forward to present 
the application. Mr. Bennett stated that the applicants have requested to rezone a tract of land, 
next to an airstrip from Agricultural – Residential (AGR) to Commercial (C). He added that, in 
an effort to be transparent, the applicant intends to rezone the tract for his business in lieu of a 
special use permit. Mr. Bennett stated that the tract to be rezoned abuts Cottonmill Avenue, a 
two-lane paved road, on the west side and 100th Street on the North side. He added that the tract, 
now, is agricultural in nature and is currently being farmed. He continued that the airstrip abuts 
on the east side. 

Mr. Bakko testified that he is from west-central Minnesota and he owns and operates a 5th 
generation farm. Additionally, he continued, he owns an agricultural business, which works with 
tub grinders and converts hay bales for animal consumption. The business has seen an increase in 
Nebraska clients, he continued. In 2020, he added, the business opened a location in Litchfield, 
Nebraska and then moved to Arcadia, Nebraska. He stated that they are seeking a more 
permanent location. In Minnesota, he said, the company employs approximately 30 people and 
six in Nebraska. He discussed the history with the existing property owners. He added that the 
remainder of the land they intend to purchase will be farmed. He stated that he is, also, a private 



 

12 
 

pilot and the abutting airstrip is a necessary use for him to travel between Minnesota and 
Nebraska three to four times a month.  

Mr. Bennett explained that this area is area is exceptional for the project due to access to paved 
major arterial roads and within close proximity to Riverdale and Kearney.  

Chairperson Brady asked how many acres Mr. Bakko is purchasing and Mr. Bakko answered 
200 acres. Mr. Bennett clarified that Mr. Bakko intends to rezone only 30 acres of the 200 acres, 
to provide immediate access to paved roads. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked the applicant if they would be willing to abide by a 
setback of 90 feet from the center of Cottonmill Avenue and from the center of 100th Street. Mr. 
Bennett recommended approval on behalf of Mr. Bakko with the consideration of future 
planning being either of those roads could expand to 80 feet wide. Mr. Bakko agreed. 

Chairperson Brady inquired whether the applicant intended to expand in the future. Mr. Bakko 
stated that he does not foresee a significant expansion, other than a shop, plane hangar, and 
customer equipment waiting on repair or after repair. Chairperson Brady asked if Mr. Bakko 
intended to expand southerly and Mr. Bakko explained that he intended to farm that area.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister reminded The Commission that agricultural service 
establishments are allowed by Special Use Permit in the Agricultural – Residential (AGR) 
District and the applicant could seek a Special Use Permit. 

Mr. Bakko explained that the tub grinders are assembled in Minnesota, but the location in 
Kearney would be only for repairs. He added that, in Arcadia, they see approximately one to 
three customers a day.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister inquired how many employees were projected to work at 
that location and Mr. Bakko stated that he projected six - eight employees, as that number is 
employed at the Arcadia location.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister inquired the number of freight truck traffic and Mr. Bakko 
answered that they receive approximately one or two freight trucks a week.    

Discussion occurred the number of residences within a certain parameter of the proposed rezone. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Mr. Bennett how much of Riverdale’s extra 
territorial jurisdiction abuts the property and Mr. Bennett stated that Buffalo County’s GIS shows 
that it intersects, but he believes it is incorrect based on the village of Riverdale’s records. He 
stated that, based on the village of Riverdale’s records, their jurisdictional boundary ends north 
of 100th Street.  

Subdivision clusters within close proximity to the rezone were reviewed.  

Secretary Wolfe asked Mr. Bakko to describe the machinery that will be repaired. Mr. Bakko 
stated that the machinery will be either on a semi-tractor or pulled by a semi-tractor. 



 

13 
 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister noted that Apple Acres Orchard, which is a similar 
agricultural commercial use is operational and located within a close proximity to the proposed 
rezoning. 

Chairperson Brady asked if Mr. Bakko will be conducting truck repair business as well and Mr. 
Bakko confirmed, under certain circumstances. 

Chairperson Brady inquired why Mr. Bakko didn’t pursue a Special Use Permit process and Mr. 
Bakko explained that he wanted to operate within the parameters of the Commercial District and 
to provide complete transparency. 

Secretary Wolfe asked how far customers would travel to have their machines repaired and Mr. 
Bakko responded that his business can draw from as far as within Nebraska, and Kansas, 
Colorado, and Iowa. 

Chairperson Brady asked if his clientele were custom operators and Mr. Bakko confirmed.  

Mr. Schmidt asked if grinding would be occurring on site and Mr. Bakko stated there would not 
be grinding on site, unless to test equipment. 

Chairperson Brady inquired if Mr. Bakko would be stockpiling any materials and Mr. Bakko 
stated that he did not have that intent, other fuel or natural gas. 

Chairperson Brady asked if anyone on The Commission had questions. No one spoke. 

Chairperson Brady asked if anyone of the public wished to comment. 

Mr. Scott Fitzke, of 8841 Cottonmill Avenue, Kearney, Nebraska, stepped forward to provide 
testimony. He explained that he resides south of the proposed zoning amendment. Mr. Fitzke 
stated he had several questions. He asked if this particular tract gets zoned to Commercial, could 
the entire tract be rezoned to Commercial. Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister stated that any 
uses, listed under the Commercial District, is either an allowable use or a conditional use. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister added that once a rezone occurs, the remainder of the tract 
or tracts within close proximity, could be more favorable for that same zoning district and may, 
also, be rezoned, although another public hearing will be need to be held. He added that the 
village of Riverdale, within close proximity, has similar industrial uses almost within one-half 
mile to the north of the tract in question.  It was noted that Riverdale exercised extraterritorial 
zoning jurisdiction one-half mile from corporate limits.   

Vice-Chairperson Keep asked how the air strip was zoned and Deputy County Attorney 
Hoffmeister stated it was zoned Agricultural – Residential (AGR2).  He noted that the air strip 
had existed pre-zoning, perhaps back to the early 1980’s.  

Mr. Fitzke stated that he has no issues with the presented business, but has concerns about what 
future uses could be established. 

Mr. Fitzke added that he is, also, concerned about the cleanliness of the location.  

Mr. Fitzke thanked The Commission for their time. 



 

14 
 

Dr. Mark Meyer, of 5355 W 85th Street, Kearney, Nebraska, stepped forward to speak in favor of 
the project. Dr. Meyer stated that he has been to Mr. Bakko’s facility in Minnesota and it is a 
clean operation. He said that the operation is much needed in Buffalo County. He added that 
several individuals have contacted him in the past to purchase the property for residential 
development and Dr. Meyer refused the proposal. Dr. Meyer continued that he believed Mr. 
Bakko would not develop the area further.  

Chairperson Brady inquired if Dr. Meyer still resided at his house and Dr. Meyer confirmed. 

Dr. Meyer thanked The Commission for their time. 

Ms. Ashley Bakko, of 28958 190th Avenue, Glenwood, Minnesota, stepped forward to speak in 
favor of the project. She identified herself as Mr. Bakko’s daughter who, currently, lives and 
helps run the farm in Minnesota.  

She stated that she wanted to reference some of the concerns set forth by the public. She stated 
that she has worked with her family’s business for 10 years and plans to take it over, along with 
her two sisters. She added that she is an owner and a manager and has been travelling between 
Nebraska and Minnesota for the last several years.  

Ms. Bakko stated that her family intends to be at a permanent location for many years and, at this 
time, does not plan to expand further in Nebraska.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Ms. Bakko if she intends to reside on the property 
and Ms. Bakko responded that she does not. 

Ms. Bakko testified that the business does not grind hay on site and does not have a need to test 
the grinders. She added that there is no smoke, material stockpiles, or trash located around the 
existing structure in Arcadia.  

Ms. Bakko thanked The Commission for their time. 

Mr. Gary Hazzard, of 8875 Cottonmill Avenue, Kearney, Nebraska, stepped forward to provide 
testimony. He stated that lives directly south of the proposed map amendment.  He said that he 
has no objections to the proposed use. 

Discussion occurred regarding growth in rural areas. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister asked Mr. Hazzard what he believes the future use of this 
area will be and Mr. Hazzard responded that he believes it will be developed to the east and west 
of his residence. 

Mr. Hazzard thanked The Commission for their time.  

Secretary Wolfe asked Mr. Bakko about the size of the structure and Mr. Bakko responded that it 
will be 150 feet by 200 feet. 

Existing Special Use Permits and comparable uses in Buffalo County were reviewed.  



 

15 
 

Chairperson Brady stated that the use would be more desirable as a Special Use Permit. 
Permitted uses and Special Use Permit uses in the Agricultural – Residential (AGR) District 
were reviewed. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister reminded The Commission that the existing air strip, that 
abuts on the east side is more of an industrial use. 

Chairperson Brady asked if anyone else wished to speak. No one spoke. 

Chairperson Brady closed the public hearing at 10:17 P.M. 

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister referred to the following section in Buffalo County Zoning 
Regulations, Section 11.3: 

“The procedure for the consideration and adoption of any such proposed amendments shall be in 
like manner as that required for the consideration and adoption of the resolution except herein 
before or herein after modified.  For action on zoning amendments, a quorum of the Planning 
Commission is more than one-half (½) of all the members.  A vote either for or against an 
amendment by a majority of all the Planning Commission members present constitutes a 
recommendation of the commission; whereas a vote either for or against an amendment by less 
than a majority of the Planning Commission present constitutes a failure to recommend.  When 
amending zoning district boundaries, the Planning Commission and County Board where 
applicable and authorized may place conditions upon property sought to be re-
zoned.  (Resolution 9-14-04) 

When the Planning Commission submits a recommendation of approval or disapproval of such 
amendment, the County Board, if it approves such recommendation, may either adopt such 
recommendation by resolution or take no further action thereof as appropriate.  In the event the 
Planning Commission submits a failure to recommend, the County Board may take such action 
as it deems appropriate.  Upon receipt of a recommendation of the Planning Commission which 
the County Board disapproves, the said governing body shall return such recommendation to the 
Planning Commission with a statement specifying the basis for disapproval, and such 
recommendation shall be considered in like manner as that required for the original 
recommendation returned to the Planning Commission. If such amendment shall affect the 
boundaries of any district, the resolution shall define the change or the boundary as amended, 
shall order the Official Zoning Map(s) to be changed to reflect such amendment, and shall amend 
the section of the resolution incorporating the same and reincorporate such Map as amended.” 

Chairperson Brady asked if anyone from The Commission had any comments regarding the 
proposed zoning map amendment. Mr. Schmidt stated that he would rather see the area zoned 
Commercial.  The closest land use to the north is industrial use within the Village of Riverdale.  
The closest residential use is about three eights of a mile.  The air strip’s land use is a factor that 
could limit more residential use close to that air strip.   
 
Mr. Schmidt asked Dr. Meyer if this particular rezone was located within a distance of the no 
longer operational onion processing structure and Dr. Meyer confirmed.  
 



 

16 
 

Ms. Jeffs said she appreciated the rezone occurring along a paved road with immediate access to 
Highway 40.  

Mr. Keep stated that the air strip, which is more of an industrial use, is abutting the proposed 
commercial tract. He said he thinks the use fits.  

Chairperson Brady declared that he does not have an issue with the applicants’ proposed 
business plan, but is concerned with what uses could follow his and how that could affect the 
residences in the area. 

Agricultural – Residential (AGR) District permitted special uses were reviewed. 

Secretary Wolfe stated that she had some reservations about rezoning a large tract of land in the 
middle of the Agricultural – Residential (AGR) District. She added, however, she appreciated 
Mr. Bakko’s business plan.  

Deputy County Attorney Hoffmeister stated it should be added as a condition that any structure 
have a minimum setback of 90 feet from the center of Cottonmill Avenue and from the center of 
100th Street.  That setback adjustment would be needed for foreseeable future use and the 
widening of the right of way for these two roads that will occur as more development occurs in 
the vicinity.  

Motion was made by Mr. Schmidt, and seconded by Ms. Jeffs to favorably recommend the 
Application for Zoning Map Amendment, filed by Craig Bennett, of Miller & Associates 
Consulting Engineers, P.C., on behalf of Mark H. Meyer and C. Jayne Meyer, also known as 
Claudia Jayne Meyer, and Loren Bakko, Manager of Bakko Land, L.L.C., for property described 
as part of the West Half of the Northwest Quarter of Section Eight (8), Township Nine (9) North, 
Range Sixteen (16) West of the Sixth Principal Meridian, Buffalo County, Nebraska, to rezone 
approximately 30.13 Acres, more or less, from Agricultural – Residential (AGR) to Commercial 
(C) with the condition that any structure have a minimum setback of 90 feet from the center of 
Cottonmill Avenue and from the center of 100th Street. 

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Schmidt, Sedlacek, Stubblefield, 
Wolfe, Keep, and Jeffs. 

Voting “Nay”: Brady. 
Abstain: None. 
Absent: Vacek. 
 
Motion carried. 
 
Old Business 
 
Minutes 
 
Motion was made by Ms. Jeffs, and seconded by Secretary Wolfe to approve the October 17, 
2024 meeting, as presented. 
 



 

17 
 

Upon roll call vote, the following Board members voted “Aye”: Jeffs, Keep, Schmidt, 
Stubblefield, Wolfe, and Brady. 
Voting “Nay”: None.  
Abstain: Sedlacek. 
Absent: Vacek.  
 
Motion carried. 
 
New Business 
 
Report on Previous Hearings 
Zoning Administrator Daniels reported that the Buffalo County Board of Commissioners 
reviewed the proposed Zoning and Subdivision Regulations on November 12, 2024 and the draft 
was tabled until December 10, 2024. She explained to The Commission that she will provide 
updates as the process progresses. 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels reviewed the correspondence with The Commission. She notified 
The Commission of Tech One Fourth being withdrawn. She, also, reviewed the Dawson County 
Notice of Zoning Regulations for code amendments. 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels asked if any members of The Planning Commission wished to put 
forward an application to serve on The Buffalo County Board of Adjustment. Ms. Jeffs stated 
she would like to be considered and would put forth an application. 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels thanked the following members for renewing their terms: Tammy 
Jeffs, Scott Brady, and Scott Stubblefield. She, also, thanked Kurt Schmidt for his years of 
service and congratulated him on his recent election to the city of Kearney City Council. 
 
Zoning Administrator Daniels reminded The Commission of the upcoming Christmas Party on 
December 6, 2024, and to let her know if anyone wished to attend.  
 
Next Meeting 
 
The next meeting will be December 19, 2024, if necessary. 
 
Adjourn 
 
Chairperson Brady adjourned the meeting at 10:35 P.M. 
 
 
___________________________________   _____________________________
 Scott Brady, Chairperson     Loye Wolfe, Secretary 

Buffalo County Planning Commission           Buffalo County Planning Commission 
 



Zoning 
Agenda 

 
 

Item #1 
 

 

















BUILDING RESTRICTION AGREEMENT TO ASSURE STRUCTURES 
AND IMPROVEMENTS AND USES ARE REASONABLY SAFE FROM FLOODING 

 
 THIS BUILDING RESTRICTION AGREEMENT to ensure Structures are 
Reasonably Safe from Flooding is entered into on the __28th____ day of January, 2025, between 
Tyler McNitt and Kasey McNitt, hereinafter referred to as “Owner” whether one or more, and 
Buffalo County, Nebraska, hereinafter simply referred to as “County”. 
 
RECITALS: 
 
 Owner is the owner of the following described real estate: 
 
A tract of land being part of the Southeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter (SE1/4 SW1/4) of 
Section Three (3), Township Nine (9) North, Range Sixteen (16) West of the 6th P.M., Buffalo 
County, Nebraska, more particularly described as follows: Beginning at the Southeast Corner of 
the Southwest Quarter of said Section 3 and assuming the South line of said Southwest Quarter 
as bearing WEST and all bearings contained therein are relative thereto; thence WEST on the 
aforesaid South line of the Southwest Quarter a distance of 1,144.21 feet; thence N 00°19’28” E 
a distance of 377.98 feet to a point on the existing south bank of Wood River; thence N 
37°53’23” E a distance of 45.03 feet to a point on the approximate centerline of Wood River; 
thence downstream and on the aforesaid approximate centerline of Wood River S 88°29’23” E a 
distance of 112.8 feet; thence N 67°17’55” E a distance of 65.77 feet; thence N 21°01’42” E a 
distance of 79.23 feet; thence N 04°18’07” W a distance of 120.68 feet; thence N 15°45’29” W a 
distance of 140.56 feet; thence N 24°23’09” E a distance of 259.02 feet; thence N 58°29’52” E a 
distance of 106.03 feet; thence S 68°34’29” E a distance of 122.26 feet; thence S 36°33’25” E a 
distance of 427.18 feet; thence S 43°45’40” E a distance of 572.82 feet to a point that intersects 
on the East line of the Southwest Quarter of said Section 3; thence leaving said approximate 
centerline of Wood River S 00°28’47” W and on the East line of the Southwest Quarter of said 
section a distance of 255.38 feet to the place of beginning. 
 
TOGETHER WITH rights of ingress and egress over and across a 30.0 foot strip of land, with 
said 30.0 foot strip of land being more particularly described as being the South 30.0 feet of the 
West 1,491.29 feet of the Southwest Quarter of Section 3, Township 9 North, Range 16 West of 
the 6th P.M., Buffalo County, Nebraska. 
 
Hereinafter referred to as “Property”.   The base elevation of the Property is ____2153__ NAVD 
1988. 

II. 
 
 The Property is located in an area shown on the Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM) for 
Buffalo County issued by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) as a special 
flood Hazard area (SFHA), and is in a floodplain subject to Buffalo County Floodplain 
Resolution. 

III. 
 
 Buffalo County’s Floodplain Regulation provides in part: 



 
“SECTION 6 –The Floodplain Management Administrator, in reviewing all applications 

for new construction, substantial improvements, prefabricated buildings, placement of 
manufactured homes and other development(s) (as defined in Section 11 of this Resolution) will: 

A.  Obtain, review and reasonably utilize, if available, any regulatory flood elevation data 
and floodway data available from Federal, State, or other sources, until such other data is 
provided by the Federal Insurance Administration in a Flood Insurance Study; and 
require within areas designated as Zone A on the official map that the following 
performance standards are met or otherwise fulfilled: 

(1) Residential Construction – New construction or substantial improvement of 
any residential structure shall have the lowest floor, including basement, 
elevated to 1 (one) foot above the base flood elevation. 

(2) Nonresidential Construction – New construction or substantial improvements 
of any commercial, industrial, or other nonresidential structure shall either have the lowest floor, 
including basement, elevated to 1 (one) foot above the level of the base flood elevation or 
together with attendant utility and sanitary facilities, be flood proofed so that below such a level 
the structure is watertight with walls substantially impermeable to the passage of water and 
with structural components having the capability of resisting hydrostatic and hydrodynamic 
loads and effects of buoyancy. A registered professional engineer or architect shall certify that 
the standards of this subsection are satisfied. Such certification shall be provided to the local 
enforcement official. 

(3) Require for all new construction and substantial improvements – That fully 
enclosed areas below the lowest floor that are subject to flooding shall be designed to 
automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior walls by allowing for the entry and 
exit of floodwaters. Designs for meeting this requirement must either be certified by a registered 
professional engineer or architect to meet or exceed the following minimum criteria: A minimum 
of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch for every square foot of 
enclosed area subject to flooding shall be provided. The bottom of all openings shall be no 
higher than one foot above grade. Opening may be equipped with screens, louvers, valves, or 
other coverings or devices provided that they permit the automatic entry and exit of floodwaters. 
 

B. Require the use of construction materials that are resistant to flood damage. 
C.  Require the use of construction methods and practices that will minimize flood 

damage. 
D. Require that new structures be designed (or modified) and adequately anchored to 

prevent flotation, collapse, or lateral movement of the structure resulting from 
hydrodynamic and hydrostatic loads, including the effects of buoyancy. 

E. New structures be constructed with electrical, heating, ventilation, plumbing, and air 
conditioning equipment and other service facilities that are designed and/or located so as 
to prevent water from entering or accumulating within the components during conditions 
of flooding. 

F. Assure that all manufactured homes shall be anchored to resist flotation, collapse, or 
lateral movement. Manufactured homes must be anchored in accordance with State laws, 
local building codes and FEMA guidelines. In the event that over-the-top frame ties to 
ground anchors are used, the following specific requirements (or their equivalent) shall 
be met: 



(1) Over-the-top ties be provided at each of the four corners of the manufactured 
home with two additional ties per side at the intermediate locations and 
manufactured homes less than 50 feet long requiring one additional tie per 
side. 

(2) Frame ties be provided at each corner of the home with five additional ties per 
side at intermediate points and manufactured homes less than 50 feet long 
requiring four additional ties per side. 

(3) All components of the anchoring system be capable of carrying a force of 
4800 pounds. 

(4) Any additions to manufactured home are similarly anchored. 
G. Require that recreational vehicles placed on sites within identified floodplain on the 

community’s FIRM either (I) be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days, (ii) be 
fully licensed and ready for highway use, or (iii) meet the permit requirements and the 
elevation and anchoring requirements for “manufactured homes” of this ordinance. A 
recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if it is on its wheels or jacking system, is 
attached to the site only by quick-disconnect type utilities and security devices, and has 
no permanently attached additions. 
 

H. Require that all manufactured homes to be placed within “Special Flood Hazard 
Areas” on the community’s FIRM be elevated on a permanent foundation such that the lowest 
floor of the manufactured home is hone (1) foot above the base flood elevation; and be securely 
anchored to an adequately anchored foundation system in accordance with provisions of Section 
6.F. 

IV. 
 
 FEMA regulations found in 44 CFR 65.5 and 65.6 authorize the issuance of a Letter of 
Map Revision (LOMR) or a Letter of Map Revision based on fill (LOMR-F) to remove land 
from the area of a SFHA (i.e. the floodplain) provided in part that the participating community 
has determined that the land and any existing or proposed structures to be removed from the 
SFHA are “reasonably safe from flooding”. 
 

V. 
 
 FEMA defines “reasonably safe from flooding” to mean “base flood waters will not 
inundate the land or damage structures to be removed from the SFHA and that any subsurface 
waters related to the base flood will not damage existing or proposed buildings.   44CFR 65.2(c). 
 

VI. 
 
 After FEMA has revised the FIRM to show that the filled or non filled land is outside the 
floodplain (SFHA), Buffalo County is no longer required to apply the minimum National Flood 
Insurance Program floodplain management standards to any structures built on the land and 
FEMA’s mandatory flood insurance purchase requirements no longer apply, although flood 
insurance may still be required contractually by any bank or banks and/or any other lender(s) if 
the structure and/or land is used as collateral to secure a loan. 
 



VII. 
 
 Land removed from the floodplain pursuant to LOMR or LOMR-F is not subject to 
Buffalo County’s floodplain resolution. 
 

VIII. 
 
 FEMA believes that residual flood hazards may exist in areas elevated above the base 
flood elevation, including subsurface flood conditions and flooding from events, which exceed 
the base flood.   Therefore, FEMA will not process an application for nor approve a LOMR or a 
LOMR-F application that removes land from the regulated floodplain unless the participating 
community, in this case Buffalo County, certifies that the area is reasonably safe from flooding 
according to criteria set forth in FEMA’s Technical Bulletin 10-01 “Ensuring that structures built 
on fill or in near special food hazard areas are reasonably safe from flooding in accordance with 
the National Flood Insurance Program”. 
 

 
IX. 

 
 At present, the County does not have any regulations that control development of flood 
prone areas outside of the floodplain that would ensure that any construction in these areas is 
reasonably safe from flooding.   Therefore, on this basis of the improvement being outside the 
floodplain, Buffalo County for these areas cannot make the required certification to FEMA 
required for processing or issuance of a LOMR or LOMR-F. 
 

X. 
 
 The Owner desires to apply to FEMA for a LOMR or a LOMR-F in order to remove that 
Property from the SFHA, the floodplain, for (check the appropriate box): 
 
(  ) Future development and/or 
(X) Present structure on the property and/or 
(  ) Lot or metes and bounds real estate description 
 
All done for the purpose of avoiding the mandatory flood insurance purchase requirement for 
lending which is attached to federally guaranteed loans for construction of buildings on the 
property or of improvements on the property as they now exist.  Therefore, the owner desires to 
enter into this agreement with the County to restrict the development of the Property to ensure 
that any construction on the Property is reasonably safe from flooding in order to induce the 
County to sign the certification required by FEMA certifying that if the Property is removed 
from the SFHA, the floodplain, the land and any existing or future buildings constructed thereon 
will be reasonably safe from flooding. 
 

XI. 
 



 NO WARRANTIES:  The parties in undertaking and entering into this agreement 
understand that Buffalo County cannot and does not make any warranties that the Property will 
not be flooded and/or damaged by flooding however caused.  
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the above-recited declarations and the mutual 
covenants contained herein, Owner and County agree as follows: 
 

1. The base flood elevation of the Property   is ___2153_____________ NAVD 1988. 
2. The Owner agrees that all new construction and substantial improvements of residential 

structures located upon the Property shall have or do have the lowest floor, including 
basement, elevated at least one (1) foot above the base flood level.  The Owner certifies 
and agrees that all garages and storage buildings used exclusively for the storage of motor 
vehicles, and storage of other items readily removable in the event of a flood warning 
may have their lowest floor below flood elevation, provided that the building structure is 
capable of withstanding hydrostatic and hydrodynamic forces caused by the 100-year 
flood and, further, provided that no utilities are installed in the building or structure 
expect when elevated above floodplain elevation or flood proofed.   Owner agrees that if 
the building or structure is converted to another use, it must be brought into full 
compliance with the requirements of this Agreement governing such uses. 

3. The Owner agrees that all new construction and substantial improvements of commercial, 
industrial, and other nonresidential structures located on the Property shall either have the 
lowest floor, including basement, elevated at least one foot above the base flood level.   
Owner further agrees that a registered professional engineer or architect shall develop or 
review the structural design, specifications, and/or plans of construction, and shall certify 
to the County that the present design and/or future design and finished structure with 
methods of construction will and does fulfill Buffalo County’s Floodplain Resolution 
together with any FEMA requirement, whichever is more restrictive. 

4. Owner agrees that for all new construction and/or existing construction or future 
substantial improvements, that in the fully enclosed areas that are below the lowest floor 
that are usable solely for parking of vehicles, building access, or storage in an area other 
than a basement, that are subject to flooding, that such structures containing this 
enclosure shall be designed to automatically equalize hydrostatic flood forces on exterior 
walls by allowing for the entry and exit of flood waters.  Designs for meeting this 
requirement must either be certified by a registered professional engineer or architect to 
the County, and must meet or exceed the following minimum criteria: 
a.  A minimum of two openings having a total net area of not less than one square inch 

for every square foot of enclosed area subject to flooding shall be provided; 
b. The bottom of all openings shall be no higher than one foot above grade; and 
c. Openings may be equipped with screens, louvers, or other coverings or devices; 

provided that they permit the automatic entry and exit of flood waters. 
5. Owner agrees to identify all building sites and their elevation in relationship to the base 

flood elevation on all grading plans, preliminary plats, final plats, use permits, and/or 
special permits for the Property or any part thereof.   Owner further agrees to identify all 
building sites and their or its elevation in relationship to the base flood elevation in any 
application for a LOMR or LOMR-F. 



6. Owner agrees to not,and/or agrees that the County may note,on all grading plans, 
building permits, preliminary plats, final plats, floodplain permits, use permits, and/or 
special permits for the Property or any part thereof that all new construction and 
substantial improvements of residential structures and all new construction and all new 
construction and substantial improvements of commercial, industrial, and other non-
residential structures shall be constructed to standards required by Buffalo County’s 
Floodplain Resolution or FEMA standards, whichever is more restrictive. 

7. Upon execution of this Agreement and its filing of record with the Buffalo County 
Register of Deeds, Buffalo County agrees to provide FEMA with the County’s assurance, 
that if the Property is removed from the SFHA, the floodplain, pursuant to LOMR or a 
LOMR-F, that all new construction and substantial improvement of existing building or 
structures on the Property will be reasonably safe from flooding. 

8. Owner agrees that no permit can be issued by the County for the construction of any new 
building or structure on the Property or substantial improvement of any existing building 
or structure on the Property until the Owner has submitted all of the required information 
necessary to obtain authorization to building/construct.   Minimally this information shall 
contain base elevations for the proposed and completed structures and certification that 
any fill material has been properly placed on the property and will not collapse or cause 
collapse of the structure(s) in event of 100-year frequency flood. 

9. The agreement shall run with the land and shall be binding on all heirs, successors, and 
assigns of the Owner. 

10. The parties agree that, except as defined elsewhere in this Agreement, the following 
terms are defined in Buffalo County’s Floodplain Resolution: 
“Appurtenant Structures” 
 “Base Flood” 
 “Basement”  
“Development” 
“Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision” 
 “Expansion to an Existing Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision” 
 “Flood” or “Flooding” 
 “Flood Proofing”  
“Floodway”  
“Historic Structure”  
“Lowest Floor” 
“Manufactured Home”  
“Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision” 
“New Construction” 
 “New Manufactured Home Park or Subdivision”  
“Principally Above Ground” 
“Recreational vehicle”  
“Regulatory Flood Elevation” 
“Special Flood Hazard Area”  
“Start of Construction” 
“Structure” 
“Substantial Damage” 
“Substantial Improvement” 



 “100-Year Flood”  
 
 IT IS FURTHER AGREED that the Owner and his heirs, successors, and assigns shall 
not hold Buffalo County liable for any loss sustained on the Property to any person and/or 
property, caused from flooding and/or other water inundation processes however cause and/or 
created. 
 
Dated this _____ day of January 2025. 
 
 
______________________________    
Tyler McNitt 
   
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA    ) 
            )  SS 
COUNTY OF _________   ) 
 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of _____________, _____ 
by Tyler McNitt. 
 

__________________________________________
Notary Public 

 
My Commission expires ______________ 
 
 
 
______________________________    
Kasey McNitt 
   
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA    ) 
            )  SS 
COUNTY OF _________   ) 
 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of _____________, _____ 
by Kasey McNitt. 
 

__________________________________________
Notary Public 

 
My Commission expires _____________ 
 



BUFFALO COUNTY, NEBRASKA 
 
 
________________________________ 
Sherry L. Morrow, Chairperson 
Buffalo County Board of Commissioners 
 
 
 
ATTEST:_____________________________  
     Heather A. Christensen, County Clerk 
 
        (SEAL) 
 
STATE OF NEBRASKA ) 
    ) SS 
COUNTY OF BUFFALO ) 
 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this 28th day of January, 2025 by 
Sherry L. Morrow, Chairperson, Buffalo County Board of Commissioners. 
 
      _________________________________ 
      Notary Public 
My Commission expires______________ 
 
 
Authorized in Board minutes dated: January 28, 2025. 



McNitt Zoning/Floodplain Map Created by: null



McNitt Aerial/Floodplain Map Created by: null



Zoning 
Agenda 

Item #2 









United States
Department of
Agriculture

A product of the National
Cooperative Soil Survey,
a joint effort of the United
States Department of
Agriculture and other
Federal agencies, State
agencies including the
Agricultural Experiment
Stations, and local
participants

Custom Soil Resource 
Report for

Buffalo County, 
Nebraska

Natural
Resources
Conservation
Service

September 19, 2024



Preface
Soil surveys contain information that affects land use planning in survey areas. 
They highlight soil limitations that affect various land uses and provide information 
about the properties of the soils in the survey areas. Soil surveys are designed for 
many different users, including farmers, ranchers, foresters, agronomists, urban 
planners, community officials, engineers, developers, builders, and home buyers. 
Also, conservationists, teachers, students, and specialists in recreation, waste 
disposal, and pollution control can use the surveys to help them understand, 
protect, or enhance the environment.

Various land use regulations of Federal, State, and local governments may impose 
special restrictions on land use or land treatment. Soil surveys identify soil 
properties that are used in making various land use or land treatment decisions. 
The information is intended to help the land users identify and reduce the effects of 
soil limitations on various land uses. The landowner or user is responsible for 
identifying and complying with existing laws and regulations.

Although soil survey information can be used for general farm, local, and wider area 
planning, onsite investigation is needed to supplement this information in some 
cases. Examples include soil quality assessments (http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/
portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/) and certain conservation and engineering 
applications. For more detailed information, contact your local USDA Service Center 
(https://offices.sc.egov.usda.gov/locator/app?agency=nrcs) or your NRCS State Soil 
Scientist (http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?
cid=nrcs142p2_053951).

Great differences in soil properties can occur within short distances. Some soils are 
seasonally wet or subject to flooding. Some are too unstable to be used as a 
foundation for buildings or roads. Clayey or wet soils are poorly suited to use as 
septic tank absorption fields. A high water table makes a soil poorly suited to 
basements or underground installations.

The National Cooperative Soil Survey is a joint effort of the United States 
Department of Agriculture and other Federal agencies, State agencies including the 
Agricultural Experiment Stations, and local agencies. The Natural Resources 
Conservation Service (NRCS) has leadership for the Federal part of the National 
Cooperative Soil Survey.

Information about soils is updated periodically. Updated information is available 
through the NRCS Web Soil Survey, the site for official soil survey information.

The U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) prohibits discrimination in all its 
programs and activities on the basis of race, color, national origin, age, disability, 
and where applicable, sex, marital status, familial status, parental status, religion, 
sexual orientation, genetic information, political beliefs, reprisal, or because all or a 
part of an individual's income is derived from any public assistance program. (Not 
all prohibited bases apply to all programs.) Persons with disabilities who require 

2

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/main/soils/health/
https://offices.sc.egov.usda.gov/locator/app?agency=nrcs
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?cid=nrcs142p2_053951
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/contactus/?cid=nrcs142p2_053951


alternative means for communication of program information (Braille, large print, 
audiotape, etc.) should contact USDA's TARGET Center at (202) 720-2600 (voice 
and TDD). To file a complaint of discrimination, write to USDA, Director, Office of 
Civil Rights, 1400 Independence Avenue, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20250-9410 or 
call (800) 795-3272 (voice) or (202) 720-6382 (TDD). USDA is an equal opportunity 
provider and employer.

3



Contents
Preface.................................................................................................................... 2
How Soil Surveys Are Made..................................................................................5
Soil Map.................................................................................................................. 8

Soil Map................................................................................................................9
Legend................................................................................................................10
Map Unit Legend................................................................................................ 11
Map Unit Descriptions.........................................................................................11

Buffalo County, Nebraska............................................................................... 13
8869—Hord silt loam, 0 to 1 percent slopes............................................... 13
8960—Wood River silt loam, 0 to 1 percent slopes.................................... 14

References............................................................................................................16

4



How Soil Surveys Are Made
Soil surveys are made to provide information about the soils and miscellaneous 
areas in a specific area. They include a description of the soils and miscellaneous 
areas and their location on the landscape and tables that show soil properties and 
limitations affecting various uses. Soil scientists observed the steepness, length, 
and shape of the slopes; the general pattern of drainage; the kinds of crops and 
native plants; and the kinds of bedrock. They observed and described many soil 
profiles. A soil profile is the sequence of natural layers, or horizons, in a soil. The 
profile extends from the surface down into the unconsolidated material in which the 
soil formed or from the surface down to bedrock. The unconsolidated material is 
devoid of roots and other living organisms and has not been changed by other 
biological activity.

Currently, soils are mapped according to the boundaries of major land resource 
areas (MLRAs). MLRAs are geographically associated land resource units that 
share common characteristics related to physiography, geology, climate, water 
resources, soils, biological resources, and land uses (USDA, 2006). Soil survey 
areas typically consist of parts of one or more MLRA.

The soils and miscellaneous areas in a survey area occur in an orderly pattern that 
is related to the geology, landforms, relief, climate, and natural vegetation of the 
area. Each kind of soil and miscellaneous area is associated with a particular kind 
of landform or with a segment of the landform. By observing the soils and 
miscellaneous areas in the survey area and relating their position to specific 
segments of the landform, a soil scientist develops a concept, or model, of how they 
were formed. Thus, during mapping, this model enables the soil scientist to predict 
with a considerable degree of accuracy the kind of soil or miscellaneous area at a 
specific location on the landscape.

Commonly, individual soils on the landscape merge into one another as their 
characteristics gradually change. To construct an accurate soil map, however, soil 
scientists must determine the boundaries between the soils. They can observe only 
a limited number of soil profiles. Nevertheless, these observations, supplemented 
by an understanding of the soil-vegetation-landscape relationship, are sufficient to 
verify predictions of the kinds of soil in an area and to determine the boundaries.

Soil scientists recorded the characteristics of the soil profiles that they studied. They 
noted soil color, texture, size and shape of soil aggregates, kind and amount of rock 
fragments, distribution of plant roots, reaction, and other features that enable them 
to identify soils. After describing the soils in the survey area and determining their 
properties, the soil scientists assigned the soils to taxonomic classes (units). 
Taxonomic classes are concepts. Each taxonomic class has a set of soil 
characteristics with precisely defined limits. The classes are used as a basis for 
comparison to classify soils systematically. Soil taxonomy, the system of taxonomic 
classification used in the United States, is based mainly on the kind and character 
of soil properties and the arrangement of horizons within the profile. After the soil 

5



scientists classified and named the soils in the survey area, they compared the 
individual soils with similar soils in the same taxonomic class in other areas so that 
they could confirm data and assemble additional data based on experience and 
research.

The objective of soil mapping is not to delineate pure map unit components; the 
objective is to separate the landscape into landforms or landform segments that 
have similar use and management requirements. Each map unit is defined by a 
unique combination of soil components and/or miscellaneous areas in predictable 
proportions. Some components may be highly contrasting to the other components 
of the map unit. The presence of minor components in a map unit in no way 
diminishes the usefulness or accuracy of the data. The delineation of such 
landforms and landform segments on the map provides sufficient information for the 
development of resource plans. If intensive use of small areas is planned, onsite 
investigation is needed to define and locate the soils and miscellaneous areas.

Soil scientists make many field observations in the process of producing a soil map. 
The frequency of observation is dependent upon several factors, including scale of 
mapping, intensity of mapping, design of map units, complexity of the landscape, 
and experience of the soil scientist. Observations are made to test and refine the 
soil-landscape model and predictions and to verify the classification of the soils at 
specific locations. Once the soil-landscape model is refined, a significantly smaller 
number of measurements of individual soil properties are made and recorded. 
These measurements may include field measurements, such as those for color, 
depth to bedrock, and texture, and laboratory measurements, such as those for 
content of sand, silt, clay, salt, and other components. Properties of each soil 
typically vary from one point to another across the landscape.

Observations for map unit components are aggregated to develop ranges of 
characteristics for the components. The aggregated values are presented. Direct 
measurements do not exist for every property presented for every map unit 
component. Values for some properties are estimated from combinations of other 
properties.

While a soil survey is in progress, samples of some of the soils in the area generally 
are collected for laboratory analyses and for engineering tests. Soil scientists 
interpret the data from these analyses and tests as well as the field-observed 
characteristics and the soil properties to determine the expected behavior of the 
soils under different uses. Interpretations for all of the soils are field tested through 
observation of the soils in different uses and under different levels of management. 
Some interpretations are modified to fit local conditions, and some new 
interpretations are developed to meet local needs. Data are assembled from other 
sources, such as research information, production records, and field experience of 
specialists. For example, data on crop yields under defined levels of management 
are assembled from farm records and from field or plot experiments on the same 
kinds of soil.

Predictions about soil behavior are based not only on soil properties but also on 
such variables as climate and biological activity. Soil conditions are predictable over 
long periods of time, but they are not predictable from year to year. For example, 
soil scientists can predict with a fairly high degree of accuracy that a given soil will 
have a high water table within certain depths in most years, but they cannot predict 
that a high water table will always be at a specific level in the soil on a specific date.

After soil scientists located and identified the significant natural bodies of soil in the 
survey area, they drew the boundaries of these bodies on aerial photographs and 

Custom Soil Resource Report

6



identified each as a specific map unit. Aerial photographs show trees, buildings, 
fields, roads, and rivers, all of which help in locating boundaries accurately.

Custom Soil Resource Report

7



Soil Map
The soil map section includes the soil map for the defined area of interest, a list of 
soil map units on the map and extent of each map unit, and cartographic symbols 
displayed on the map. Also presented are various metadata about data used to 
produce the map, and a description of each soil map unit.

8



9

Custom Soil Resource Report
Soil Map

45
13

18
0

45
13

23
0

45
13

28
0

45
13

33
0

45
13

38
0

45
13

43
0

45
13

48
0

45
13

18
0

45
13

23
0

45
13

28
0

45
13

33
0

45
13

38
0

45
13

43
0

45
13

48
0

486500 486550 486600 486650 486700 486750 486800 486850 486900 486950

486500 486550 486600 486650 486700 486750 486800 486850 486900 486950

40°  46' 20'' N
99

° 
 9

' 3
6'

' W
40°  46' 20'' N

99
° 
 9

' 1
6'

' W

40°  46' 10'' N

99
° 
 9

' 3
6'

' W

40°  46' 10'' N

99
° 
 9

' 1
6'

' W

N

Map projection: Web Mercator   Corner coordinates: WGS84   Edge tics: UTM Zone 14N WGS84
0 100 200 400 600

Feet
0 30 60 120 180

Meters
Map Scale: 1:2,170 if printed on A landscape (11" x 8.5") sheet.

Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.



MAP LEGEND MAP INFORMATION

Area of Interest (AOI)
Area of Interest (AOI)

Soils
Soil Map Unit Polygons

Soil Map Unit Lines

Soil Map Unit Points

Special Point Features
Blowout

Borrow Pit

Clay Spot

Closed Depression

Gravel Pit

Gravelly Spot

Landfill

Lava Flow

Marsh or swamp

Mine or Quarry

Miscellaneous Water

Perennial Water

Rock Outcrop

Saline Spot

Sandy Spot

Severely Eroded Spot

Sinkhole

Slide or Slip

Sodic Spot

Spoil Area

Stony Spot

Very Stony Spot

Wet Spot

Other

Special Line Features

Water Features
Streams and Canals

Transportation
Rails

Interstate Highways

US Routes

Major Roads

Local Roads

Background
Aerial Photography

The soil surveys that comprise your AOI were mapped at 
1:20,000.

Warning: Soil Map may not be valid at this scale.

Enlargement of maps beyond the scale of mapping can cause 
misunderstanding of the detail of mapping and accuracy of soil 
line placement. The maps do not show the small areas of 
contrasting soils that could have been shown at a more detailed 
scale.

Please rely on the bar scale on each map sheet for map 
measurements.

Source of Map: Natural Resources Conservation Service
Web Soil Survey URL: 
Coordinate System: Web Mercator (EPSG:3857)

Maps from the Web Soil Survey are based on the Web Mercator 
projection, which preserves direction and shape but distorts 
distance and area. A projection that preserves area, such as the 
Albers equal-area conic projection, should be used if more 
accurate calculations of distance or area are required.

This product is generated from the USDA-NRCS certified data as 
of the version date(s) listed below.

Soil Survey Area: Buffalo County, Nebraska
Survey Area Data: Version 26, Sep 6, 2023

Soil map units are labeled (as space allows) for map scales 
1:50,000 or larger.

Date(s) aerial images were photographed: Aug 9, 2022—Sep 5, 
2022

The orthophoto or other base map on which the soil lines were 
compiled and digitized probably differs from the background 
imagery displayed on these maps. As a result, some minor 
shifting of map unit boundaries may be evident.

Custom Soil Resource Report

10



Map Unit Legend

Map Unit Symbol Map Unit Name Acres in AOI Percent of AOI

8869 Hord silt loam, 0 to 1 percent 
slopes

5.5 29.0%

8960 Wood River silt loam, 0 to 1 
percent slopes

13.6 71.0%

Totals for Area of Interest 19.1 100.0%

Map Unit Descriptions
The map units delineated on the detailed soil maps in a soil survey represent the 
soils or miscellaneous areas in the survey area. The map unit descriptions, along 
with the maps, can be used to determine the composition and properties of a unit.

A map unit delineation on a soil map represents an area dominated by one or more 
major kinds of soil or miscellaneous areas. A map unit is identified and named 
according to the taxonomic classification of the dominant soils. Within a taxonomic 
class there are precisely defined limits for the properties of the soils. On the 
landscape, however, the soils are natural phenomena, and they have the 
characteristic variability of all natural phenomena. Thus, the range of some 
observed properties may extend beyond the limits defined for a taxonomic class. 
Areas of soils of a single taxonomic class rarely, if ever, can be mapped without 
including areas of other taxonomic classes. Consequently, every map unit is made 
up of the soils or miscellaneous areas for which it is named and some minor 
components that belong to taxonomic classes other than those of the major soils.

Most minor soils have properties similar to those of the dominant soil or soils in the 
map unit, and thus they do not affect use and management. These are called 
noncontrasting, or similar, components. They may or may not be mentioned in a 
particular map unit description. Other minor components, however, have properties 
and behavioral characteristics divergent enough to affect use or to require different 
management. These are called contrasting, or dissimilar, components. They 
generally are in small areas and could not be mapped separately because of the 
scale used. Some small areas of strongly contrasting soils or miscellaneous areas 
are identified by a special symbol on the maps. If included in the database for a 
given area, the contrasting minor components are identified in the map unit 
descriptions along with some characteristics of each. A few areas of minor 
components may not have been observed, and consequently they are not 
mentioned in the descriptions, especially where the pattern was so complex that it 
was impractical to make enough observations to identify all the soils and 
miscellaneous areas on the landscape.

The presence of minor components in a map unit in no way diminishes the 
usefulness or accuracy of the data. The objective of mapping is not to delineate 
pure taxonomic classes but rather to separate the landscape into landforms or 
landform segments that have similar use and management requirements. The 
delineation of such segments on the map provides sufficient information for the 
development of resource plans. If intensive use of small areas is planned, however, 

Custom Soil Resource Report

11



onsite investigation is needed to define and locate the soils and miscellaneous 
areas.

An identifying symbol precedes the map unit name in the map unit descriptions. 
Each description includes general facts about the unit and gives important soil 
properties and qualities.

Soils that have profiles that are almost alike make up a soil series. Except for 
differences in texture of the surface layer, all the soils of a series have major 
horizons that are similar in composition, thickness, and arrangement.

Soils of one series can differ in texture of the surface layer, slope, stoniness, 
salinity, degree of erosion, and other characteristics that affect their use. On the 
basis of such differences, a soil series is divided into soil phases. Most of the areas 
shown on the detailed soil maps are phases of soil series. The name of a soil phase 
commonly indicates a feature that affects use or management. For example, Alpha 
silt loam, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is a phase of the Alpha series.

Some map units are made up of two or more major soils or miscellaneous areas. 
These map units are complexes, associations, or undifferentiated groups.

A complex consists of two or more soils or miscellaneous areas in such an intricate 
pattern or in such small areas that they cannot be shown separately on the maps. 
The pattern and proportion of the soils or miscellaneous areas are somewhat similar 
in all areas. Alpha-Beta complex, 0 to 6 percent slopes, is an example.

An association is made up of two or more geographically associated soils or 
miscellaneous areas that are shown as one unit on the maps. Because of present 
or anticipated uses of the map units in the survey area, it was not considered 
practical or necessary to map the soils or miscellaneous areas separately. The 
pattern and relative proportion of the soils or miscellaneous areas are somewhat 
similar. Alpha-Beta association, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is an example.

An undifferentiated group is made up of two or more soils or miscellaneous areas 
that could be mapped individually but are mapped as one unit because similar 
interpretations can be made for use and management. The pattern and proportion 
of the soils or miscellaneous areas in a mapped area are not uniform. An area can 
be made up of only one of the major soils or miscellaneous areas, or it can be made 
up of all of them. Alpha and Beta soils, 0 to 2 percent slopes, is an example.

Some surveys include miscellaneous areas. Such areas have little or no soil 
material and support little or no vegetation. Rock outcrop is an example.

Custom Soil Resource Report

12



Buffalo County, Nebraska

8869—Hord silt loam, 0 to 1 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 2tml4
Elevation: 1,300 to 3,180 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 21 to 27 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 48 to 52 degrees F
Frost-free period: 137 to 167 days
Farmland classification: All areas are prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Hord and similar soils: 85 percent
Minor components: 15 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Hord

Setting
Landform: Stream terraces
Landform position (two-dimensional): Footslope
Landform position (three-dimensional): Side slope, tread
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Parent material: Alluvium

Typical profile
Ap - 0 to 20 inches: silt loam
Bw - 20 to 36 inches: silt loam
C - 36 to 79 inches: silt loam

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 1 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Well drained
Runoff class: Low
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately high to high 

(0.60 to 2.00 in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Calcium carbonate, maximum content: 6 percent
Maximum salinity: Nonsaline to very slightly saline (0.0 to 2.0 mmhos/cm)
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: Very high (about 12.7 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): 1
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 2c
Hydrologic Soil Group: B
Ecological site: R071XY028NE - Loamy Lowland 
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

13



Minor Components

Hall
Percent of map unit: 8 percent
Landform: Stream terraces
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Ecological site: R071XY028NE - Loamy Lowland 
Hydric soil rating: No

Hobbs, frequently flooded
Percent of map unit: 6 percent
Landform: Drainageways
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Linear
Ecological site: R071XY028NE - Loamy Lowland 
Hydric soil rating: No

Fillmore, frequently ponded
Percent of map unit: 1 percent
Landform: Playas
Landform position (two-dimensional): Summit
Landform position (three-dimensional): Interfluve
Down-slope shape: Concave
Across-slope shape: Concave
Ecological site: R071XY027NE - Closed Upland Depression
Hydric soil rating: Yes

8960—Wood River silt loam, 0 to 1 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
National map unit symbol: 1v22p
Elevation: 2,000 to 2,500 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 24 to 26 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 50 to 54 degrees F
Frost-free period: 140 to 160 days
Farmland classification: All areas are prime farmland

Map Unit Composition
Wood river and similar soils: 100 percent
Estimates are based on observations, descriptions, and transects of the mapunit.

Description of Wood River

Setting
Landform: Stream terraces
Landform position (three-dimensional): Tread
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear

Custom Soil Resource Report

14



Parent material: Silty alluvium

Typical profile
A - 0 to 11 inches: silt loam
Bt - 11 to 36 inches: silty clay loam
C - 36 to 60 inches: silt loam

Properties and qualities
Slope: 0 to 1 percent
Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches
Drainage class: Moderately well drained
Runoff class: High
Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately low to 

moderately high (0.06 to 0.20 in/hr)
Depth to water table: More than 80 inches
Frequency of flooding: None
Frequency of ponding: None
Calcium carbonate, maximum content: 15 percent
Maximum salinity: Slightly saline to moderately saline (4.0 to 8.0 mmhos/cm)
Sodium adsorption ratio, maximum: 20.0
Available water supply, 0 to 60 inches: High (about 11.3 inches)

Interpretive groups
Land capability classification (irrigated): 2s
Land capability classification (nonirrigated): 2s
Hydrologic Soil Group: C
Ecological site: R071XY052NE - Saline Subirrigated
Forage suitability group: Not Suited (G071XY000NE)
Other vegetative classification: Not Suited (G071XY000NE)
Hydric soil rating: No

Custom Soil Resource Report

15



References
American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO). 
2004. Standard specifications for transportation materials and methods of sampling 
and testing. 24th edition.

American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM). 2005. Standard classification of 
soils for engineering purposes. ASTM Standard D2487-00.

Cowardin, L.M., V. Carter, F.C. Golet, and E.T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of 
wetlands and deep-water habitats of the United States. U.S. Fish and Wildlife 
Service FWS/OBS-79/31.

Federal Register. July 13, 1994. Changes in hydric soils of the United States.

Federal Register. September 18, 2002. Hydric soils of the United States.

Hurt, G.W., and L.M. Vasilas, editors. Version 6.0, 2006. Field indicators of hydric 
soils in the United States.

National Research Council. 1995. Wetlands: Characteristics and boundaries.

Soil Survey Division Staff. 1993. Soil survey manual. Soil Conservation Service. 
U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 18. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/
nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262 

Soil Survey Staff. 1999. Soil taxonomy: A basic system of soil classification for 
making and interpreting soil surveys. 2nd edition. Natural Resources Conservation 
Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 436. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577 

Soil Survey Staff. 2010. Keys to soil taxonomy. 11th edition. U.S. Department of 
Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580 

Tiner, R.W., Jr. 1985. Wetlands of Delaware. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and 
Delaware Department of Natural Resources and Environmental Control, Wetlands 
Section.

United States Army Corps of Engineers, Environmental Laboratory. 1987. Corps of 
Engineers wetlands delineation manual. Waterways Experiment Station Technical 
Report Y-87-1.

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National forestry manual. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/
home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374 

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National range and pasture handbook. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/
detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084 

16

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_054262
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053577
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053580
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/home/?cid=nrcs142p2_053374
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/landuse/rangepasture/?cid=stelprdb1043084


United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
National soil survey handbook, title 430-VI. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/
nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242 

United States Department of Agriculture, Natural Resources Conservation Service. 
2006. Land resource regions and major land resource areas of the United States, 
the Caribbean, and the Pacific Basin. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 
296. http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?
cid=nrcs142p2_053624 

United States Department of Agriculture, Soil Conservation Service. 1961. Land 
capability classification. U.S. Department of Agriculture Handbook 210. http://
www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf 

Custom Soil Resource Report

17

http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/soils/scientists/?cid=nrcs142p2_054242
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053624
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/wps/portal/nrcs/detail/national/soils/?cid=nrcs142p2_053624
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf
http://www.nrcs.usda.gov/Internet/FSE_DOCUMENTS/nrcs142p2_052290.pdf












REVISED SUBMISSION.



ORIGINAL SUBMISSION.



SECTION 4 LAND USE PROFILE & PLAN. 

Buffalo County, Nebraska Comprehensive Plan – 2033. 4.19 

FUTURE LAND USE MAP. 
BUFFALO COUNTY, NEBRASKA 
ILLUSTRATION 4.3 



Meyer/Bakko Zoning/Floodplain Map Created by: null
Parcels

Parcel Numbers

Subdivisions

Roads

Townships

Sections

Zoning

AGRICULTURAL

AGRICULTURAL-RESIDENTIAL

COMMERCIAL

INDUSTRIAL

RURAL CONSERVATION

Floodplain

A

AE

AH

AO

X



Meyer/Bakko Aerial/Floodplain Map Created by: null
Parcels

Parcel Numbers

Subdivisions

Roads

Townships

Sections

Floodplain

A

AE

AH

AO

X



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

COUNTY BOARD MEETING 
      1-28-2025 
 
 
 
 

1. Set Bid date for Gravel for 2025-2026 
 

Motion by ____________________________ Second by __________________________ 
to set bid date for Tuesday, February 25, 2025 at _______ am for the 2025-2026 gravel 
bids to be affective April 1, 2025 through March 31, 2026. 


	1. 01.14.25 BoC Minutes
	3. Payroll Jan 24, 2025
	4. Board Preapproval
	8. Treasurer semi annual report
	10. Visitors Board Terms
	11. Road maintenance petition
	15. BoC Packet 1.28.2025
	16. Road

